
 

AGENDA FOR 

 

CABINET 

 
 
Contact:: Andrew Woods 
Direct Line: 0161 253 5134 
E-mail: a.p.woods@bury.gov.uk 
Web Site:  www.bury.gov.uk 
 
 
To: All Members of Cabinet 
 

Councillors : M C Connolly (Leader) (Chair), 
S Walmsley (Cabinet Member for Communites and 
Community Safety), T Isherwood (Cabinet Member for 
Environment), J Lewis (Cabinet Member for Leisure, 
Tourism and Culture), R Shori (Cabinet Member for Adult 
Care, Health and Housing), J Smith (Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Corporate Affairs), G Campbell (Cabinet 
Member for Children and Families), T Pickstone (Non 
portfolio holder) and I Gartside (Non portfolio holder) 

 
 
Dear Member/Colleague 
 
Cabinet 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet which will be held 
as follows:- 
 

Date: Wednesday, 27 November 2013 

Place:  Tottington Methodist Church, Market Street, 
Tottington, BL8 4AA 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 
briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the 
related report should be contacted. 

Notes:  

Public Document Pack



AGENDA 
 
 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
Members of Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have an interest 
in any of the matters of the Agenda, and if so, to formally declare that 
interest.  
 

2a  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   
 
Questions are invited from members of the public present at the meeting 
about the work or performance of the Council and the Council’s services. 
Approximately 30 Minutes will be set aside for Public Question Time, if 
required. 
  
 

3  MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 6 
November 2013. 
  
 

4  BURY TOBACCO CONTROL STRATEGY  (Pages 5 - 58) 
 

5  CORPORATE FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT - APRIL TO 
SEPTEMBER 2013  (Pages 59 - 88) 
 

6  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY MID-YEAR REVIEW  (Pages 89 
- 98) 
 

7  CORPORATE PLAN PROGRESS REPORT QUARTER 2 2013-2014  
(Pages 99 - 122) 
 

8  URGENT BUSINESS   
 
Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
agrees may be considered as a matter of urgency.  
 

9  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
To consider passing the appropriate resolution under Section 100 (A)(4), 
Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, that the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the reason that the following 
business involves the disclosure of exempt information as detailed against 
the item.  
 

10  PARKING ENFORCEMENT CONTRACT  (Pages 123 - 126) 
 

11  IT NETWORK INFRASTRUCTURE  (Pages 127 - 136) 
 



 319

       Minutes of: THE CABINET   

 

 Date of Meeting: 6 November 2013 

  

 Present: Councillor M Connolly (in the Chair)  

   Councillors G Campbell, I Gartside, A Isherwood,  

   J Lewis, R Shori and J Smith 

 

 Also present: Councillors S Southworth and T Tariq  

  

 Apologies: Councillors T Pickstone and S Walmsley 

  

 Public attendance:  members of the public were in attendance 

 

 

CA.473 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

   

 Councillor Connolly declared a personal interest in any matters relating to the 

 fact that his partner is employed by Adult Care Services  

  

CA.474 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 

 A period of thirty minutes was allocated for members of the public present at 

the meeting to ask questions about the work or performance of the Council or 

Council services. 

  

 No questions were asked. 

 

CA.475 MINUTES 

  

 Delegated decision: 

 

 That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 September 2013 be approved and 

signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 

CA.476 LAND ADJACENT THE FORMER RAMSBOTTOM YOUTH CLUB SITE, 

CENTRAL STREET, RAMSBOTTOM 

  

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member (Finance and Corporate Affairs) 

submitted a report for the consideration of an objection received in response 

to the proposed disposal of land designated as Public Open Space (POS). The 

land concerned was identified for sale together with the former site of 

Ramsbottom Youth Club site, Central Street, Ramsbottom.  

 

 Delegated decision: 

 

 That approval be given to the sale of the site of the former Ramsbottom Youth 

Club together with the Public Open Space land on Central Street. 

Ramsbottom. 

  

 Reasons for the decision:  

 The site has been identified for disposal as no other Council service was 

interested in the site. The sale will generate a capital receipt and this will 

eliminate any ongoing management costs. 

 

Agenda Item 3Document Pack Page 1



 320

Cabinet 6 November 2013 

 

 Other option considered and rejected: 

 Not to approve the sale of the site of the former Ramsbottom Youth Club 

 Public Open Space. 

 

CA.477 BURY PUPIL PREMIUM REVIEW 

 

 The Cabinet Member  - Children and Families submitted a report which 

presented a review of how Bury schools are making use of Pupil Premium 

funding to improve education, in particular education for children from 

disadvantaged backgrounds.  

 

 The report also addressed issues relating to the lack of take up of Free School 

Meals and ways the authority could work with schools to increase the take up 

of this provision. 

  

 Delegated decisions: 

  

 1. That the report be received. 

 

 2. That the findings contained in the report be disseminated and circulated to 

all Headteachers and Chairs of Governors within the Borough. 

 

 3. That the report be referred to the Corporate Parenting Panel. 

   

 Reasons for the decisions:  

 To enable the findings of the report to be circulated to key stakeholders. 

  

 Other option considered and rejected: 

 To reject the recommendations. 

 

CA.478 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC  

  

 Delegated decision: 

 

 That in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 

the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 

following item of business as it involves the likely disclosure of information as 

detailed in the conditions of category 3. 

 

CA.479 GREATER MANCHESTER’S LOCAL BROADBAND PLAN (LBP) 

E  

 The Leader of the Council submitted a report which detailed the Greater 

Manchester (GM) Broadband Plan, the potential economic benefit to GM and 

Bury, the funding streams attached and the requested financial contribution 

from Bury Council. 

  

 Delegated decision: 

 

 That approval be given to sign up to the GM Broadband Plan as set out in the 

report submitted which will include the priority areas within Bury as confirmed 

by the preferred supplier with a financial contribution which represents an 

equal share between all 8 Greater Manchester authorities.  

 

Document Pack Page 2



 321

 Cabinet 6 November 2013 

 

 Reason for the decision:  

 This decision will have a positive economic within Bury and across Greater 

Manchester. 

 

 Other option considered and rejected: 

 To reject the recommendation. 

  

 

 

 COUNCILLOR M CONNOLLY 

 Chair 

   

  

 

 (Note:  The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 6:20 pm) 

Document Pack Page 3



Document Pack Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
 
 
 

 
 
  
 

DECISION MAKER: The Cabinet 

DATE: 27th November 2013 

SUBJECT: Bury Tobacco Control Strategy 

REPORT FROM: Cllr Rishi Shori, Cabinet Member for Adult Care 

and Wellbeing 
CONTACT OFFICER: Frances Carbery, Health Improvement Specialist 

TYPE OF DECISION: CABINET KEY DECISION  

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS: 

This paper is within the public domain 

SUMMARY: This report seeks the approval of the Cabinet for the 
Bury Tobacco Control Strategy 2013-2018. The strategy 
has been developed by the Bury Tobacco Alliance which 
is led by l Public Health.  
 
It has been written in response to the national tobacco 
control strategy for England, ‘A Smokefree Future’ (DH, 
2010), and in response to the new public health 
responsibilities of local authorities as described in the 
Public Health Outcomes Framework. 
 
The  Council is responsible for reducing smoking 
prevalence amongst the adult (18+) population, 
amongst 15 year olds and amongst pregnant women 
smoking at time of delivery (SATOD). 
 
The purpose of the strategy is to engage with partners 
and to provide a basis for partnership working to drive 
down tobacco use and therefore reduce health 
inequalities and poverty amongst the population of Bury. 
 
With limited resources available, the strategy aims to 
pool commitment to its agenda through describing a 
multi-faceted and multi-organisational approach to 
tobacco control, and to ensure that tobacco control is a 
priority for everyone in Bury. 
 
Tobacco use disproportionately affects the most deprived 
and the most vulnerable members of our community i.e. 
those living in areas of deprivation, children and young 
people, pregnant women and their unborn children, 
black and minority ethnic groups, those with mental 
health needs, those who work in routine and manual 
jobs. As such, the strategy aims to target resources at 
those most at risk from the harms of tobacco e.g. by 
ensuring children’s centres promote smokefree homes 
and cars, by supporting the enforcement of smokefree 

 

REPORT FOR DECISION 

Agenda Item 4Document Pack Page 5



 2

laws. 
 
Action plans attached to the strategy will be monitored, 
reviewed and updated by the Tobacco Alliance at 
quarterly meetings in order that they reflect the current 
needs of Bury residents. They will be informed by any 
new policy and strategy developments (national/ 
regional/ local), the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 
information shared, including ‘soft’ intelligence, by 
Tobacco Alliance members and any changes in available 
resources. 

OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION 

1. Approval of the Bury Tobacco Control Strategy 
2013-18. This is the recommended option. 

 

2. Do not approve the Bury Tobacco Control 
Strategy 2013-18. This will delay the 

implementation of the strategy and action plan. 
 

IMPLICATIONS:  

Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework: 

Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework?  Yes    

Statement by the S151 Officer: 
Financial Implications and Risk 
Considerations: 

Executive Director of Resources to advise 
regarding risk management 

Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources: 

 
 

Equality/Diversity implications: Yes   No  
(see paragraph below) 

Considered by Monitoring Officer: Yes              
Wards Affected: All wards affected 
Scrutiny Interest:  
 
TRACKING/PROCESS   DIRECTOR: 
 

Chief Executive/ 
Strategic Leadership 

Team 

Cabinet 
Member/Chair 

Ward Members Partners 

√ 
 

√   

Scrutiny Committee Cabinet/Committee Council  

 
 

   

    
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 In February 2010, the national tobacco control strategy for England, A 

Smokefree Future, was published by the department of health (DH, 2010). This 
strategy set out a framework for reducing smoking prevalence and health inequalities. 
Since then, the responsibility for the reduction in smoking prevalence has moved to 
local authorities and the Public Health Outcomes Framework sets out three key 
outcomes related to this. 
 

 

JH 

Document Pack Page 6



 3

1.2 This strategy has been developed by the Bury Tobacco Alliance and provides a 
local framework for the delivery of the national strategy and the Public Health 
outcomes for the reduction in smoking prevalence. The Tobacco Alliance represents a 
variety of bodies concerned with Tobacco Control including;  the Council (Public 
Health, Children’s Services, Environmental and Development Services), Pennine Care 
Foundation Trust (stop smoking service, oral health promotion, health trainers), 
Greater Manchester Probation Trust, Greater Manchester Police, Greater Manchester 
Fire Service, Bury HealthWatch. 
 
2.0 AIMS OF THE STRATEGY 
 
The Bury Tobacco Control Strategy focuses on three key aims: 
 
1. Enabling smokers in Bury who want to quit, to be able to quit with the right support.  
2. Tackling the accessibility of tobacco products for young people, particularly in relation 

to illegal and illicit tobacco, underage sales and niche products. 
3. Protecting children, families and communities from the effects of secondhand smoke. 
 
Since 1st April 2013,  the  Council has had responsibility for tobacco control and smoking 
cessation services. The Bury Tobacco Control Strategy aims to draw upon existing 
resources to deliver a programme of Tobacco Control, including stop smoking services, to 
reduce the harms caused by tobacco. 
 
To make the greatest difference it looks to collect and collate information and intelligence 
in order to ensure that stop smoking services are targeted towards geographical areas 
and communities of greatest need.  
 
As smoking services become more effective and the prevalence of smoking in Bury is 
reduced, it is essential that we strive to reduce the uptake of smoking, particularly by 
tackling accessibility of tobacco products for children and young people. The strategy aims 
to work with partners to ensure enforcement of tobacco and smokefree legislation, and to 
educate communities about the harms of tobacco use. Harms include health harms, but 
also the financial and social harms, and hidden harms associated with illegal tobacco 
production and sales. 
 
The introduction of smokefree legislation in 2007 went a long way to protecting 
communities from harms of tobacco smoke when in public places. There is, however, no 
legislation that applies to smoking in homes and vehicles and therefore some of our most 
vulnerable members of the community may be subjected to secondhand smoke. The 
strategy aims to protect children and young people by promoting smokefree homes and 
cars. It also aims to protect the unborn child through the provision of services and 
education to pregnant women and their families. 
 
3.0 ISSUES  

 
 

3.1 Risk Management 
The risks associated with the non-delivery of this strategy will be monitored at 
the quarterly Bury Tobacco Alliance meetings. As smoking is still the biggest 
cause of preventable ill health and premature mortality, the greatest risk is 
that the gap in life expectancy between the most and the least deprived 
communities in Bury will widen. 
 
There is no funding attached to the implementation of this strategy and the 
majority of the actions will be achieved by greater partnership working. There 
are core services which are funded by  the Council such as the stop smoking 

Document Pack Page 7



 4

service and the provision of Nicotine Replacement Therapy. The risks 
associated with the performance and budgets of these services are monitored 
separately and any exceptions will be reported at the operational stop smoking 
group for Bury and managed accordingly. 
 

3.2 Equality and Diversity 
3.2.1 The Equality Analysis recognises that the implementation of the 

strategy will have a positive effect on particular population groups, 
such as pregnant women and BME communities, and geographical 
areas where there is a higher prevalence of tobacco use.  

3.2.2 The recommendations identified in the Equality Analysis include 
engagement with the newly formed Bury HealthWatch (already 
actioned), and to monitor the strategy against the Public Health 
Outcomes Framework. It also suggests clarification around the 
reporting mechanism for the strategy with the suggestion that it may 
report upwards to the health and well-being board. 

3.2.3 The equality information considered includes: 
 
Information Source 

Prevalence rates for smoking by 
area code/ ward. 

Provided by Public Health 
Intelligence 

Department of health returns co-
ordinated by Stop Smoking 
Service showing demographics of 
service users. 

NHSCIC 

Bury Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment 
 

Bury Council 

There is a range of guidance 
around tobacco control measures 
available on the National Institute 
for Health and Care Excellence 
website (NICE) 
 

NICE guidance online 

Consultation for the Bury Tobacco 
Control Strategy has been 
conducted with the Tobacco 
Alliance through Tobacco Alliance 
meetings and smaller working 
groups. 

Bury Tobacco Alliance 

The 2011 census data shows that 
the ‘White British’ population has 
decreased to 85.3% with the 
remaining 14.7% made up of a 
number of different ethnic 
groups, the largest of which is 
Pakistani at 4.9% (9,002 
people). Another significant 
population group is ‘Other White’ 
at 2.5% (4,706 people). This 
would include people who are 
from Eastern European countries. 
(Figures from ONS, 2013) 
 

Public Health Intelligence 

 
 

Document Pack Page 8



 5

4.0 CONCLUSION  
The Bury Tobacco Alliance aims to improve life expectancy and quality of life for the 
population of Bury, by tackling tobacco control issues with a multi-faceted and multi-
organisational approach. It draws upon existing resources and applies a co-ordinated 
approach to tackling all aspects of tobacco control and thereby reducing smoking 
prevalence. 
 
The strategy will be monitored by the Bury Tobacco Alliance and will be reviewed and 
refreshed annually.  
 
 

 
List of Background Papers:- 
Tobacco Control Strategy for England- A Smokefree Future (DH, 2010) 
Healthy Lives, Healthy people: A Tobacco Control Plan for England (DH, 2011) 
Equality Analysis 
Bury Tobacco Control Strategy 2011 
 
 
Contact Details:- 
 
Frances Carbery 
Health Improvement Specialist 
Bury Public Health 
3rd Floor, 3 Knowsley Place 
Duke Street, Bury 
BL9 0EJ 
 
Tel. 0161 253 6879 
f.m.carbery@bury.gov.uk  
 

 

 

 

 
Last Updated 5.09.2013 

Document Pack Page 9



Document Pack Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013 – 2018  

Tobacco Control  
Strategy for Bury 

Document Pack Page 11



2 

Document Control Page 

 
Document Status 
 
Version: 1.3 
Date: January 2013 
 
Authorisation 
 
Name: Frances Carbery   
Position: Health Improvement Specialist   
Date: January 2013  
Signature: 
 
Document Version History 
 

Version Date Author or 
Technical 
contact 

Description 
of version 

Contact details 

V2 
V4 
V5 

05/12/2012 
19/03/1013 
17/04/2013 

 
F. Carbery 

 
Final Draft 
FINAL 

 
 
F.M.Carbery@bury.gov.uk 

 
Document Change History 
 

Revision Date Summary of changes Changes 
Marked?  

 
Document Tracking History 
 

Version Date Person 
presenting 

Area 
Receiving 

Comments 

 
This is an electronic version of the approved version and paper copies are only valid as 
of the last update. Please refer to the master copy or the document’s author if you are in 
any doubt about the currency of the documents content 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 12



3 

Contents 
 

1. Foreword          4 
 

2. Vision          5 
 

3. Introduction         7 
 

4. Bury Tobacco Alliance       12 
 

5. Protecting children, families and communities from the 
the effects of secondhand smoke     20 
 

6. Tackling accessibility of tobacco products for young  
people          21 
 

7. Enabling smokers who want to quit, to be able to quit 
with the right support        24 
 

8. Communications and campaigns     31 
 

9. Public consultation and Patient involvement   32 
 

10. Monitoring and data collection       33 
 

11. Action plans         34 
 
 

Document Pack Page 13



4 

1. Foreword 
 
There has been tremendous progress in combating smoking. 
 
Fewer children now take up smoking than at any time since the Second World War.  The 
higher level of smoking amongst young people than older people is mainly because so 
many older people have given up smoking.  Children are influenced by the health 
dangers of smoking.  Whenever there is a competition for children to design a poster 
against smoking, death and disease features prominently.  The challenge is to influence 
children who are unaffected by the health argument so that they will not start smoking. 
 
Most smokers give up eventually. By the age of 30, there are more ex-smokers than 
smokers. We know the most effective way to give up smoking is through closed smoking 
groups supported by pharmaceutical aids such as nicotine replacement therapy. The 
success of stop smoking activities in prisons shows that people from the most deprived 
communities will also give up smoking.  The challenge is to attract people, especially 
from deprived communities, to services that will provide the most effective help. 
 
There have been great strides in protecting workers and children from secondhand 
smoke.  There has been almost complete compliance with the ban on smoking in the 
workplace. The smokefree homes campaign has contributed to the position whereby the 
majority of smokers do not smoke in the home in which children live.  Bury has now 
banned smoking in all its children’s playgrounds. The challenge is to make exposure to 
secondhand smoke universally unacceptable. 
 
This strategy will help us meet these challenges 
 

 
 
Councillor Rishi Shori 
Bury Council 

Document Pack Page 14



5 

2. Vision 

Our vision is of a tobacco free future for Bury. Our local communities will be free from the 
harms caused by tobacco and secondhand smoke, and people will lead longer and 
healthier lives. 
 

2.1 Aims 
Bury’s strategy for tobacco control will focus on the delivery of local programmes of work 
to address the aims of the national tobacco control strategy. Locally, we will aim to 
reduce the prevalence of smoking year on year and according to national guidance by: 
 
§ Enabling smokers in Bury who want to quit, to be able to quit with the right support.  
§ Tackling the accessibility of tobacco products for young people, particularly in relation 

to illegal and illicit tobacco, underage sales and niche products. 
§ Protecting children, families and communities from the effects of secondhand smoke. 
 
The national strategy, ‘A Smokefree Future’ (DH, 2010) set out ambitions that included 
halving the number of smokers from 21% to 10% by 2020. This equates to 1.1 % 
reduction in prevalence per year. For Bury, over the course of 5 years, our ambition is to 
reduce prevalence from 22% to around 16% by 2018. Currently, our prevalence for 
women smoking at time of delivery (SATOD) is around 16% which would support the 
notion that our ambition is achievable. 
 
We will continue to provide accessible stop smoking services in a range of formats to suit 
the needs of the Bury population. In essence, we will aim to treat a minimum of 5% of the 
adult smoking population of Bury each year by building capacity and raising awareness.  
 
We will reduce the uptake of tobacco use amongst children and young people resulting in 
a reduction in smoking prevalence amongst 15 year olds, and in the longer term in our 
adult population. The tobacco control plan for England aims to reduce smoking 
prevalence for 15 year olds to 12% or less. In Bury, we do not yet have baseline data for 
this age group, but we know from the Trading Standards North West survey, most recent 
available results from 2011, that smoking prevalence amongst our 14-17 year olds is 
around 18%, a reduction of 4% since 2009. By reducing the uptake of smoking amongst 
children and young people at the same rate we will aim to reach a prevalence of 10% for 
15 year olds by 2018. 
 
Children exposed to secondhand smoke are more susceptible to diseases such as 
sudden infant death, asthma, middle ear disease and meningitis. In the 18 months after 
the smokefree legislation was introduced (July 2007-December 2008), 26% of boys and 
girls aged 8-15 said that they were exposed to other people’s smoke in their own homes 
(Health Survey for England 2008). Children from lower income households were more 
likely to be exposed. By promoting the smokefree homes and cars scheme in Bury we 
will reduce the numbers of children exposed to secondhand smoke. By 2018, we will 
have smoke free homes and cars champions in all of our children’s centres and in the 
majority of our primary schools. 

Document Pack Page 15



6 

2.2 Review of the Strategy 

The Bury Tobacco Control Strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis and a full refresh 
will be conducted after five years or sooner if there are any major governmental or local 
policy changes that may affect the delivery of its aims. 
 
The strategy will be ratified by the Tobacco Alliance and will report to the Health and 
Well-being Board for Bury. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 16



7 

3. Introduction 
Since the introduction of the Smokefree legislation in 2007, and over the past decade, 
smoking prevalence in this country has reduced greatly. There are 2 million fewer 
smokers now than there were 10 years ago. 
 
Each year in England, an estimated 200,000 children and young people take up smoking. 
More than half of all long-term users will be killed by smoking (DH, 2010). 
 
Bury has a population of 185,000 (Census, 2011). Early death rates from heart disease 
and stroke have shown a steady decline over the past 10 years, whilst early death rates 
from cancer reached a peak in 2005 and have steadily declined since, to align with the 
England average. 
 
The most recent Tobacco Control Profile for Bury (London Health Observatory, 2012/13) 
demonstrates that Bury fares significantly worse than the North West and England in a 
number of areas including smoking attributable deaths, and smoking status for pregnant 
women at the time of delivery. Smoking attributable hospital admissions from 2009/10 
are below the England average, but above the regional average at 1,449.8 per 100,000 
population.18+ smoking prevalence estimates from 2010/11 are stated as 22% in Bury, 
compared to 22.1% for the North West and 20% for England (London Health 
Observatory, 2012). 
 
Smoking prevalence is a measure of the proportion of the population that are current 
smokers.  The Government has set challenging targets to reduce smoking prevalence to 
10% by 2020, and to halve smoking rates amongst routine and manual workers and 
those from more deprived areas.  
 
For Bury, this would mean a prevalence reduction to 13.3 % for adults 18+ by 2020. 
Reducing prevalence is a multi-faceted issue and should not be seen to be answered by 
the delivery of Stop Smoking interventions in isolation. In order to tackle the issues that 
are associated with smoking prevalence, a multi-organisational approach is needed that 
tackles prevention, treatment and relapse/ maintenance. 
 

3.1 The costs of smoking in Bury 

Each year in Bury it is estimated that smoking costs society approximately £52.4m. 
The following information is generated on the ASH ‘Reckoner’ using locally derived 
information (Action on Smoking and Health, 2012). 
 
Smokers in Bury spend around £56.3m per year on tobacco, compared to the total costs 
to society in Bury of £52.4m, shown in the chart below. 

Document Pack Page 17



8 

e 
 
If smokers spend £56.3m on tobacco products, this contributes roughly £42.9m in duty to 
the Exchequer, which leaves a shortfall of £9.5m on the £52.4m that it costs our local 
economy. The following chart taken from the Tobacco Free Futures website, 
(http://tobaccofreefutures.org/why-tackle-tobacco/smoking-impairs-kills-and-costs/) and 
based on facts provided by ASH, shows deaths from smoking in England compared to 
deaths by other causes.  

 

 

Document Pack Page 18



9 

The chart highlights the impact that smoking has on morbidity, and the necessity for 
investment in tobacco control work. 

3.2 Our investment in tobacco 

There is no single dedicated budget for tobacco control work. Bury Council currently 
invests in the provision of stop smoking services for the borough. This investment 
includes provision through health trainer and probation services.  Our stop smoking 
service provision consists of a specialist service that offers specialist stop smoking 
support. It also provides training to those providing a lower level of support (Intermediate 
Advisors), for example, some of our pharmacies and Probation Service. The service 
trains any front line workers, particularly those who work with our target population 
groups, in brief intervention and advice. 
 
Our intermediate advisor services prescribe for Nicotine Replacement Therapy products 
using a voucher pad scheme to increase availability and access to patients. General 
Practitioners are also able to prescribe stop smoking medicines such as bupropion 
(Zyban) and varenicline tartrate (Champix) which are not available over the counter. 
 
The combined services have shown some success in delivering 4 week quits, but as a 
greater measure of success, prevalence of smoking has declined year on year from 29% 
in 2002 to the most recent 22% in 2012. It is essential that wider tobacco control work 
continues in order to increase the pace at which smoking prevalence is reduced. 
 
The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) provides indicators for 
value for money of interventions in terms of cost of an intervention per Quality Adjusted 
Life Year (QALY). The threshold for costs is generally £20k-£30k per QALY. Smoking 
behaviour interventions combined with Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) yield a cost 
per QALY of around £1,666 to £4,833 according to NICE, and therefore are very cost 
effective interventions. 

3.2 Working together to reduce the harms caused by tobacco 

The Bury Tobacco Alliance was formed in 2010 and sought to gather together colleagues 
from different organisations to develop a strategic approach to reducing the harms 
caused by tobacco. Members of the Tobacco Alliance include: 
 
§ Bury Council: 

§ Trading Standards 
§ Environmental Health 
§ Children’s Services  
§ Youth Offending Services 
§ Bury Public Health Department including CAPED (Community Action to 

Promote Early Detection of cancer) 
 

§ Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service 
 

§ Greater Manchester Probation Service:  
§ Health Trainers 

 
§ Six Town Housing 

 
§ Pennine Care Foundation Trust: 

Document Pack Page 19



10 

§ Bury Stop Smoking Service 
Oral Health Promotion 
 

§ Bury HealthWatch 
 
 
The Bury Tobacco Control Strategy came about as a result of this collaborative working. 
This strategy will continue to enable a collaborative approach to tackling the root causes 
of harms caused by tobacco including: 
 
§ Harm to health caused by tobacco, smoking and secondhand smoke 
§ Poverty and inequalities as a large proportion of income in some population groups is 

spent on tobacco products 
§ Crime that arises from sales of illicit and illegal tobacco products 
§ The hidden harms to children, families and friends of tobacco users and the 

communities to which they belong. 
 

The Tobacco Alliance has realised a number of achievements since its inception early in 
2010. Whilst it has never had an identified budget, its members have ensured that 
through joint working, schemes and interventions have been introduced to support the 
delivery of this strategy. Achievements to date include: 
 
§ The development and implementation of a tobacco control strategy for Bury 
§ The revision of the Smokefree homes and cars scheme 
§ The introduction of a Fixed Penalty Notice referral scheme for those caught 

smoking in works’ vehicles. This entails the offender being offered an appointment   
with the Specialist Stop Smoking service and a fine waiver. 

§ Participation in research by Leeds University resulting in a Tobacco Alliance event. 
§ Smokefree signage in all the local authority and Six Town Housing playgrounds, 
      and for the 14 Children’s Centres in Bury. 

 
3.3 Policy drivers 
The Government has taken a ‘life courses’ approach to delivering outcomes for Health 
and Well-being which are reflected in the draft Health and Well-being Strategy for Bury.  
 
This approach, outlined in the white paper, ‘Healthy Lives, Healthy People’ (DH, 2011), is 
reflected in Bury’s draft Health and Well-being Strategy through its 5 priority areas: 
 
§ Starting well- ensuring a positive start to life for children, young people and families. 
§ Developing well- encouraging healthy lifestyles and behaviours in all actions and 

activities. 
§ Growing well- helping to build strong communities, well-being and mental health. 
§ Living and working well- promoting independence of people living with long term 

conditions. 
§ Ageing well- supporting older people to be safe, independent and well. 
 
The Tobacco Control Strategy is committed to supporting the achievement of positive 
outcomes within the 5 priority areas in the Health and Well-being strategy.   
 
The Government published its Public Health Outcomes Framework in July 2012, which 
gave local authorities the responsibility for reducing smoking prevalence.  Within the 

Document Pack Page 20



11 

Framework are a number of outcomes, including the reduction of prevalence for 15 year 
olds, for adults (18+) and for Smoking at Time of Delivery (SATOD).  
 
In February 2010, the Government published its new strategy, ‘A Smokefree Future’ (DH, 
2010), which set out challenging targets to reduce the prevalence of smoking. 
Furthermore, the Government agenda for addressing health inequalities focuses heavily 
on tobacco control and measures to reduce prevalence, including the supply of illicit and 
illegal tobacco.  
 
In addition to this strategy, the National Support Team for Tobacco Control set out 10 
high impact changes, at the core of which was partnership working. The strategy will 
consider this guidance and any future guidance that should be published by the National 
Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) or other Government Departments. 
 
Bury’s Community Strategy for 2008-2018 describes a number of ambitions for Bury, 
one of which is to be the ‘Healthiest Borough in the North West’. In order to achieve this 
aim, a pledge has been made to look beyond physical health problems and to actively 
promote well-being. This ethos sits well with Public Health practice and will be a driving 
force behind the success of the Tobacco Control Strategy. 
 
The Greater Manchester Fire Service Integrated Risk Management Plan sets the agenda 
for partnership working and accessing ‘hard to reach’ groups of people with regards to 
fire safety. The Tobacco Alliance will support the Fire Service to meet the cross-cutting 
objectives set out in this strategy. 
 
The ‘North of England Tackling Illicit Tobacco for Better Health’ programme is delivered 
through the three Regional Smokefree organisations across the North of England, 
including Tobacco Free Futures, and in partnership with key intelligence and 
enforcement agencies, such as Trading Standards and the Police.  
 
The Bury Tobacco Control Strategy will support local Trading Standards partners to 
identify and tackle illicit tobacco problems in the local area and thereby contribute to the 
North of England Programme. 
 
Smokers in poorer communities use illicit tobacco at much higher rates and young people 
are much more likely to purchase illicit tobacco. Illicit tobacco is usually less than half the 
price of legally sold tobacco, and so encourages smokers to maintain their habit, and 
young people to take up smoking. The North of England Tackling Illicit Tobacco for Better 
Health programme aims to reduce demand for and supply of illicit tobacco through 
partnership working, sharing intelligence and communication.                                                                      
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 21



12 

4. Bury Tobacco Alliance 
As described in section 3.1 Bury has a multi-agency Tobacco Alliance which works 
collaboratively to drive down smoking prevalence and to ensure delivery of the 
Government Strategy, ‘A Smokefree Future’ (DH, 2010) at a local level.  
 
Key services that deliver the aims of this strategy as part of their core business are 
identified below. The Alliance will work to identify other partners through which these 
aims can be delivered and to expand the capacity to address harms arising as a result of 
tobacco. 
 

4.1 Stop Smoking Services 
 

4.1.1 Bury Stop Smoking Service 
The specialist stop smoking service for Bury is currently provided by Pennine Care NHS 
Foundation Trust, and commissioned by Public Health within the local authority. 
  
The service is responsible for the delivery of various elements of stop smoking pathways 
as detailed below, and contributes to the reduction in prevalence and overall health 
inequalities. 
 

Training 
 
Brief Intervention Training (Level 1) 
This is provided to a wide range of staff from all sectors to assist them in the knowledge 
that will encourage a good quality and supportive brief intervention to take place, 
therefore increasing the numbers of smokers (and tobacco users) accessing services for 
support and subsequently assisting with the reduction in prevalence. 
  

Intermediate Training (Level 2) 
This training is delivered to staff who are best placed to deliver direct support (front line 
staff including pharmacy staff, practice staff) and equips delegates with the necessary 
knowledge and skills to support a smoker to stop smoking (or using other forms of 
tobacco), from contemplation through to a long-term quit.  This support is then delivered 
in a one-to-one setting, offering the client advice/support and pharmacotherapies (if 
appropriate) and then the result is reported to support the reduction of prevalence in the 
borough. 
  

Specialist Service (Level 3) 
The Specialist Service consists of a manager, stop smoking specialist advisors and 
administration staff.  All staff have undertaken the level 1 National Centre for Smoking 
Cessation and Training (NCSCT) certificate, with manager/advisors completing level 2 as 
well as further specific training such as NCSCT mental health modules, Maudsley training 
and other related courses to further enhance and develop their knowledge and skills. 
  
In addition to the training highlighted above, the specialist service offers direct support to 
the public, leading on specific groups such as long-term service users, black & minority 
ethnic groups, young people, pregnant women, mental health service users, the 
chronically ill and people with long-term conditions (including pre and post operative), as 

Document Pack Page 22



13 

well as the generic clients who refer themselves for specialist support.  The specialist 
team also works directly with workplaces, focusing specifically on the routine and manual 
workforce, in order to reduce prevalence amongst this target group. 
  
This support is offered through various clinics in alternative settings across the borough 
and includes one-to-one, groups, drop-in, telephone support and hospital ‘bedside’ 
support, and where necessary home visits. 
 
Following the completion of the level 1 NCSCT training, level 2 intermediate training 
(delivered by the specialist service) and in line with shadowing and best practice 
protocols, staff are able to offer intermediate stop smoking interventions, including 
behavioural and pharmacological advice to smokers wishing to stop.   
 
The advisors are situated in several locations including pharmacies, GP practices, 
therefore extended the reach to the smoking (and tobacco user) population of Bury. 

 
4.1.2 Intermediate Advisors services 
Intermediate Advisors offer stop smoking support, including behaviour change support to 
patients wishing to quit smoking but who do not require a specialist intervention.  
 
Many of the pharmacies in Bury, as well as a number of other organisations such as 
Greater Manchester Probation Trust and some General Practices, have trained 
Intermediate Advisors who deliver this service to their specific client group. Intermediate 
Advisors receive their training from the Bury Stop Smoking Service, as well as the on-line 
NCSCT training. 
 

Greater Manchester Probation Trust Health Trainer Service 
Greater Manchester Probation Trust (GMPT) works with people of 18 years and over who 
have been sentenced by the courts to a community order or who are serving their licence 
period in the community following a prison sentence. It provides probation supervision, 
offending behaviour programmes and specialist support services to stop people 
committing further offences. 
 
There are trained Smoking Cessation Intermediate advisors within the Bury Local 
Delivery Unit, who have specialist skills in working with offenders and ex-offenders.  
 
This population group is a particularly difficult to access group for mainstream service 
providers, as they generally do not readily access mainstream services themselves. 
Intermediate Advisors within the Probation Service are ideally placed to deliver Stop 
Smoking provision to this client group which has a high prevalence of smoking and 
tobacco use (around 80%). Probation Health Trainers deliver Brief Interventions in one to 
one situations and whilst the client is attending their National Standard Appointment at 
the Probation Office. Further Intermediate Advice provision is offered if the client requires 
it. 
 

4.2 Environmental Services 
Environmental Services, which comprises the Environmental Health and Trading 
Standards functions, sits within the local authority. Both teams contribute to the aims of 
the Tobacco Control Strategy and Bury Council’s outcomes (reducing poverty and its 
effects, supporting the most vulnerable residents and making Bury a better place to live).  
 

Document Pack Page 23



14 

The teams enforces the legislation for Smokefree public/ work places, illicit tobacco 
supplies, underage sales and litter associated with smoking (discarded cigarettes, 
packets etc). They provide information, advice and support to businesses and the 
general public about duties in relation to the legislation.  
 
Officers undertaking premise inspections routinely check for compliance with legislation. 
The service also responds to complaints and may use test purchasers to check 
compliance with underage sales. Where contraventions are found, prosecutions or the 
issue of a fixed penalty notice can follow.  
 
The service is currently running a scheme whereby the option to issue a fixed penalty 
notice is waived where the potential recipient agrees to attend a session with the 
specialist stop smoking service. 

 
During 2011 /2012 Trading Standards carried out:  
 
§ 12 underage test purchases for tobacco  
§ 50 visits to premises to check for compliance of new tobacco vending machine 
     provisions 
§ Enforcement resulting in seizures of 150 items of non-compliant niche tobacco 
§ Enforcement resulting in seizures of 285 items of counterfeit or non-duty paid 

tobacco products (from Sept 2010)  
§ Checks of 1060 packets of cigarettes for authenticity at 40 premises  
§ Visits to larger premises to monitor displays of tobacco products (as part of other 

inspections)  
§ 10 visits to small retailers to monitor displays of tobacco products (smaller premises 

will have to comply fully with the new display provisions from April 2015) 

 
During 2011/12 Environmental Health dealt with:  

§ 27 complaints  
§ Discussed smoking during 143 inspections to workplaces  
§ Checked compliance during 800+ taxi related actions and 200+ licensed premise 

visits  
§ Served 2 FPNS and deferred 6 FPNs on condition the potential recipient attended a 

smoking cessation session  

 

4.3 Greater Manchester Fire Service 
The Fire Service delivers a number of interventions that contribute to the overall aims of 
this strategy. It is likely that some of the groups that access these interventions belong to 
key target groups identified in this strategy, and therefore opportunities to raise 
awareness of the aims of the strategy and to promote Stop Smoking Services will be 
sought through them. 
 

FireSmart  
FireSmart is a newly launched educational programme which is confidential and offers 
education and advice to anyone aged 17 years and under who may be exhibiting signs of 
fire setting behaviour. Our aim is to work directly with children, young people and their 

Document Pack Page 24



15 

families to increase fire safety awareness and reduce the risk of harm through active 
discussion about the dangers of fire. 
 
This programme where appropriate provides advice and guidance together with referrals 
to specialist smoking cessation services should the young person be either a smoker or 
setting fires utilising smoking materials. 
 

Operation Treacle 
This is a seasonal joint partnership initiative to coincide with the Halloween and Bonfire 
Night in conjunction with the Police, Trading Standards and Anti Social Behaviour team 
to educate all year 8s in arson and fire-related Anti Social Behaviour. Every high school 
in the Borough is visited. Trading Standards also conducts test purchases as part of this 
operation.  
 
This initiative, where appropriate, provides advice and guidance together with referrals to 
specialist Smoking Cessation services should a young person be either a smoker or 
setting fires utilising smoking materials. 
 

Community Fire Cadets  
This youth scheme supports 13 – 16 year olds and educates them about community 
safety, educational achievement and citizenship. Through this scheme participants will 
gain a broader understanding of fire safety in the home including the increased threats to 
safety which can result from smoking.  
 
This is run at Ramsbottom Fire Station on a Wednesday evening during school term time. 
 

Accidental dwelling fires 
National research has proven that working smoke alarms greatly reduce the risk of death 
or injury from fires in the home, by giving the occupants an early warning when a fire 
starts and giving them time to escape. Still, many homes have no alarm or have alarms 
with batteries that have run out or been removed. To counter this, fire service staff visit 
thousands of homes each year and undertake free Home Safety Checks (HSCs). 
 
During each visit dedicated and locally based Community Safety Advisors (CSAs) or 
operational firefighters will fit smoke alarm(s) if necessary but, in addition, they will 
provide information on fire risks within the home, advice on what to do if a fire starts and 
the importance of an escape plan - all the while remaining available to attend 
emergencies.  
 
Also during the visit the occupants of the house will be asked if anyone smokes and if 
they would like to be referred onto the Stop Smoking team. Efforts are targeted at 
households that are identified as being at a higher risk from fire, smoking households 
being one of these. 
 
Furthermore, staff within the GMFRS Contact Centre on receipt of referrals for HSC’s 
utilise a screen tool which can identify individuals who may benefit from a referral to 
smoking cessation services and will, with the individual’s consent, facilitate a referral to 
the relevant local service for further assistance. 
 
The Fire Service recognises that its priority communities are those suffering from high 
crime, significant levels of ill health and low levels of social cohesion. These and other 

Document Pack Page 25



16 

associated issues leave people at higher risk from fire in the home. The last Integrated 
Risk Management Plan identified that the following groups are more likely to suffer from a 
dwelling fire: 
 
§ Lone parents with dependent child(ren) 
§ Never worked 
§ Single adult households 
§ Those living in areas where the Index of Multiple Deprivation score is high. 
 
In addition there are other specific factors that make some people more vulnerable or 
prone to fire. These include: smoking, limited mobility and drug or alcohol use. Some of 
these can be addressed or minimised by education on fire safety in the home as part of 
our prevention work, such as HSCs which frequently include the fitting of smoke alarms 
in the home.  
 
Other similar approaches can be successful if undertaken in partnership with other 
related agencies such as Adult and Children’s Social Care, the Stop Smoking Team and 
the Falls Prevention Service. 
 

Stop Smoking Events 
GMFRS is a committed member of the Bury Tobacco Alliance and attends all Stop 
Smoking events working in partnership with the Stop Smoking Team. It also played an 
active part in the local events organised for the National Stop Smoking Day in March 
2012 and will be a member of the newly introduced Planning Group for the event in 2013. 
 
GMFRS hosts 6 monthly Partnership workshops with colleagues from Smoking 
Cessation services from across Greater Manchester to network; share good practice and 
identify further opportunities to support local initiatives and strategies. 
 
During 2013 GMFRS will be seeking to further enhance our engagement by developing 
“Partnership Agreements” with relevant local services which include mutual referral 
pathways and reciprocal training to increase the safety and wellbeing of the communities 
we serve within the Borough. 
 
 

4.4 Children’s Services 

 
4.4.1 Children’s Centres 
There are 14 children’s centres in Bury, 9 of which are local authority run. They support 
children, parents, carers and childcare providers to help ensure that Bury children are 
given the best opportunities at their most crucial time for development during the first 5 
years of their lives. 
 
Children’s centres act as a hub for families and carers enabling them to locate all the 
information they need to provide the best start for their children, working with a range of 
partner  agencies to offer advice and support as well as to directly deliver services in the 
centres and local community venues. Target audiences are parents, including teenage 
parents, young people who may become smokers, pregnant women and their families. 
 

Document Pack Page 26



17 

The children’s centres’ work covers the five outcome areas of Every Child Matters, with 
targets and areas of work being identified for the centres by local and national 
government, Ofsted, area data and service users. 
 
Children’s centres run and facilitate a variety of initiatives and programmes of work 
including: 
 
§ Stop smoking services 
§ Health trainer clinics 
§ Health promotion events and campaigns such as for No Smoking Day. 
§ Smokefree homes and cars 

 
All children’s centres have smokefree policies and have agreed to display smokefree play 
area signs in their grounds. 
 

4.4.2 Schools 
Within the borough, there are currently 63 primary schools, 14 secondary schools, 3 
special schools, one nursery and a Pupil Learning Centre. Children and young people in 
Bury are supported through their school life enabling them to go into further education, 
training or employment.  
 
School governors play an important part in helping local schools and the role can be very 
rewarding and a good way of helping the community. 
 
The governing body is responsible for ensuring that the school provides good quality 
education by making key decisions about the school together with the head teacher who 
is responsible for the schools day to day management. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance developed a schools toolkit to enable schools to deliver tobacco 
control measures through a holistic approach, i.e. through policy, enforcement, education 
and support. All secondary schools were supplied with the toolkit. The Tobacco Alliance 
will continue with the development of this work by liaising with education staff and 
governors to develop a toolkit which has a primary school focus. 

 
4.4.3 Youth Offending Team 
Bury Youth Offending Team (YOT) supervises orders on behalf of the court and works 
with young offenders and victims of crime. The YOT undertakes preventative work with 
young people who are at risk of becoming involved in crime and anti-social behaviour 
and administers a number of measures to prevent and stop further anti-social behaviour. 
Some tools used by or involving the YOT are:  
 

§ Youth Inclusion and Support Panels - Anyone who feels a young person is 
behaving in ways that put them at risk of offending can refer them to a YISP. 
YISPs are made up of representatives from agencies including the police, schools, 
health and social services and members of the local community. The young 
person and their parents/carers can also attend in appropriate cases. The Panel 
recommends a programme of support for the young person and their family called 
an Individual Support Plan.  

§ Warnings - YOT can instigate and support other agencies in using warnings to 
make it clear to a young person they have behaved unacceptably. These can 

Document Pack Page 27



18 

include threats of enforcement and are often sufficient for individuals to change 
their behaviour.  

§ Acceptable Behaviour Contracts - Designed to stop similar types of behaviour as 
an ASBO, an ABC is a voluntary agreement between an individual who has been 
behaving disruptively, the Local Authority and Police. Their parent or guardian 
should also be involved. If the individual breaks the ABC, it can be used as 
evidence in applying for an ASBO. YOT will support the young person to help 
them keep the ABC.  

§ Parenting Contracts - An agreement negotiated between a parent/carer of a young 
person involved in anti-social behaviour and a YOT worker. The parent agrees to 
fulfil certain requirements and the YOT agrees to support them in doing so.  

§ Parenting Orders - These are made by the court when a young person is 
convicted of an offence. The Order lasts for up to 12 months and includes a 
requirement to attend a parental counselling and guidance programme. The YOT 
is often assigned as the responsible officer as they are well placed to co-ordinate 
the programme. 

 
The Tobacco Alliance has representation from the YOT. The population of young people 
who access this service is likely to have a higher than average prevalence of Tobacco 
and possibly other substance use. The YOT has ready access to this group of people 
and therefore the opportunities to deliver messages about tobacco use, and to collect 
intelligence about illicit an illegal sales of tobacco. 

  
4.4.4 Early Break 
Any young person aged 18 or under, or are a parent or carer of someone aged 18 or 
under, who has substance misuse problems you can contact Early Break. The team can 
offer advice and information over the phone or can arrange an appointment to meet on a 
one-to-one basis. Interventions include specialist harm reduction, non-prescribing 
treatment and targeted early intervention. 
 
Tobacco use is likely to be a major issue with the young people who access the service 
and their families. Early Break, along with other young people’s services can play a role 
in delivering brief interventions, messages about tobacco use and gathering intelligence 
about illegal and illicit tobacco. 
 

4.5 Six Town Housing 
Six Town Housing is the main social housing provider for Bury and is responsible for:  

• Rent collection and arrears recovery, including welfare benefits advice;  
• Tenant and resident involvement;  
• Dealing with anti social behaviour;  
• Estate management and caretaking;  
• Leaseholder and Right to Buy services;  
• Responsive repairs;  
• Planned and capital improvement schemes. 

 
Six Town Housing has regularly provided input at Tobacco Alliance meeting. The 
organisation has ready access to some of the target groups for Bury’s tobacco control 
work, i.e. those from deprived communities, routine and manual workers and the 
unemployed. There is a higher than average prevalence of smoking amongst these 
groups, and Six Town Housing is key to getting out tobacco control messages to its 
residents. It has four playgrounds and has agreed to display smoke free signage. It also 

Document Pack Page 28



19 

has a residents’ newsletter which provides opportunities to present information about 
campaigns and services to the residents. Community development worker staff are also 
trained to deliver self care courses, ‘Helping Yourself to Health’ through which they are 
able to communicate key health and self care messages to residents. 
 

4.6 Greater Manchester Police 
In March 2013, Greater Manchester Police restructured, resulting in Bury having two 
Neighbourhood Policing Teams, one for Bury North and one for Bury South. Bury 
Division has supported the work of the Tobacco Alliance by communicating information 
and raising awareness of tobacco control activities within the local community, as well as 
having a presence at events such as for No Smoking Day. The links between illicit and 
illegal tobacco and organised crime are strong, so it is essential that the Tobacco 
Alliance builds on its partnership with the police in order to tackle tobacco related 
problems. 
 

4.7 Healthwatch 
Bury LINk was formerly the local involvement network for Bury, and from April 2013 has 
become HealthWatch.  HealthWatch has been set up to give communities a stronger 
voice on how their health and social care services are provided and delivered.   
The Bury Healthwatch is an independent network of local people, individuals, community 
groups and organisations working together to make health and social care services better 
for everyone in Bury. Bury local HealthWatch will involve people of all ages and from all 
sections of the community. They will build on the knowledge and experience of the 
previous Local Involvement Network (LINk), so ensuring continuity, and will reach out into 
parts of the community that do not currently have a voice. 
 
LINk representatives have provided invaluable input to the Bury Tobacco Alliance and it 
is important that as the new HealthWatch is formed in Bury, that input continues. 
 

4.8 Community Dental Service 
The Community Dental Service provides dental care upon referral for children and adults 
with special needs or anxiety issues. The Oral Health Promotion Team, as part of the 
Community Dental Service, engages target groups in activities with a view to promote 
oral health awareness and education. 
 
Tobacco is a major risk factor in the development of oral cancer and is one of the most 
important issues that influence the service’s approach to tackling tobacco usage. As part 
of its clinical activities the service assesses the use of tobacco products and refers to the 
appropriate smoking cessation services with the patient’s consent.  
 
The Community Dental Service monitors the usage of tobacco products at every recall 
appointment. 
 

4.9 What we will do 
The Bury Tobacco Alliance will continue to engage with partners to ensure that Tobacco 
Control work continues in those areas and with those population groups for whom the 
greatest benefits will be realised. 
The offer to become a member of the Bury Tobacco Alliance will be publicised on a 
regular basis in order that Tobacco Control eventually becomes everybody’s business. 

Document Pack Page 29



20 

5. Protecting children, 
families and communities 
from the effects of 
secondhand smoke. 
 
 

5.1 Smokefree Homes and Cars 
The Tobacco Alliance recognises the harms caused by secondhand smoke, particularly 
to children and young people and those who don’t always have a choice in the 
environments in which they live and work.  
 
As such, the Alliance will use local, regional and national campaigns to address 
secondhand smoke, and protect the population from environmental harms and pollution.  
 
The Smokefree homes scheme in Bury has recently been reviewed to include Smokefree 
cars. The Tobacco Alliance will identify champions in workplaces, Children’s Centres and 
other key settings to communicate important messages about Smokefree homes and 
cars. It will encourage champions to make use of the literature and resources available, 
including the free on-line training from the NCSCT (NHS Centre for Smoking Cessation 
and Training). 
 
As a result of Smokefree public places legislation, smokers who choose to smoke in 
places other than their homes may be tempted to drop cigarette butts in the street, 
creating unsightly litter. The Alliance will raise awareness of this and will support the 
enforcement of littering legislation. 
 
In order to complement and strengthen the effects of the Smokefree legislation, the 
Tobacco Alliance will look for new and innovative ways to encourage Smokefree 
environments.  
 
Recently, Local Authority playgrounds have been provided with signage promoting 
Smokefree play spaces and therefore clean air in which children can play. Six Town 
Housing and the 14 Children’s Centres have also agreed to display these signs in their 
playgrounds/ play areas.   
 
Smokefree play areas not only protect children and others from the harms of secondhand 
smoke, but are likely to expose children to environments where smoking is not 
normalised, and may even encourage smokers to think about quitting. 

 
5.2 What we will do 
We will raise awareness of the harms of secondhand smoke and recruit champions to 
deliver the messages in every children’s centre and primary school. 

Document Pack Page 30



21 

6. Tackling Accessibility of 
tobacco products for 
young people. 

 
6.1 Illicit and Illegal Tobacco Products 
Illicit tobacco is any type of tobacco product that has been smuggled, bootlegged or is 
counterfeit. It can include foreign brands that are illegally brought into the UK, products 
that are bought abroad in countries where the tax is lower, and then sold on in the UK, 
and cheap, low quality cigarettes that are repackaged to look like premium UK brands. 
 
The prevalence of illicit tobacco is particularly high in the North of England, however, 
there is currently no base line data or information available about the prevalence in Bury. 
 
According to the North of England Campaign ‘Tackling Illicit Tobacco for Better Health’, 
the price of illicit tobacco greatly undermines the Government’s attempts to reduce 
smoking prevalence as it is sold at around half the price of legal tobacco. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance will promote the North of England Tackling Illicit Tobacco 
Programme and encourage organisations and members of the public to share 
information that will lead to a reduction in the supply of illicit products, and will enable the 
scope of the problem in Bury to be captured. 
 

6.2 Shisha 
Shisha is a form of smoking that uses a water pipe and a form of tobacco sometimes 
mixed with fruit or molasses sugar. It is traditionally used by people from Middle Eastern 
or Asian communities, but is becoming more popular with other groups such as young 
people.  
 
Traditionally Shisha contains tobacco that is used in cigarettes, and so the harmful 
substances given off when it is smoked are the same as for cigarettes. On average a 
shisha smoking session lasts about an hour and research has shown that during this time 
you can inhale about the same amount of smoke as if you had smoked 100 cigarettes.  
 
Secondhand smoke is also emitted and therefore, Shisha smoke is also harmful to those 
nearby. Often, people think that shisha is less harmful than cigarette smoke as it travels 
through water before inhalation. This is untrue.  
 
Shisha ‘lounges’ are becoming more commonplace and shisha is subject to the same 
Smokefree laws as any other tobacco. Whilst it is relatively easy to keep tabs on public 
shisha lounges, it is more difficult to know the extent of shisha smoking in the home 
setting. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance aims to gather intelligence that informs future campaigns and other 
targeted work around shisha.  
 

Document Pack Page 31



22 

6.3 Cannabis 
Cannabis is the type of drug most likely to be used by adults. 6.8% of 16-59 year olds 
said they’d had cannabis in the last year according to a report produced by the NHS 
Information Centre for health and Social Care in 2011. The report also states that 
amongst 11-15 year olds, cannabis was the most widely used drug in 2010. 8.2% of 
pupils reported taking it in the last year.  
 
Pupils who had reported taking drugs at least once per month were more likely to have 
truanted or been excluded from school. Both smoking and drinking were associated with 
drug use in the last year. Pupils who were regular smokers were more likely to have 
taken drugs in the last year (Odds Ratio 11:30). 
 
According to the British Lung Foundation, ‘we need to dedicate more resources P to 
supporting people who want to stop smoking cannabis.’ A report produced in 2012 states 
that ‘cannabis and tobacco smoke contain largely the same substances, including carbon 
monoxide, tar and carcinogens.’  
 
Cannabis is often mixed with tobacco in order to produce a ‘slow burn’ (British Lung 
Foundation, 2012). This makes it more difficult to determine which problems are caused 
by cannabis and which by tobacco, but it would make sense to raise awareness of the 
harms caused by smoking cannabis through the work of the Tobacco Alliance. 
 
Whilst it is difficult to know the extent of cannabis use amongst young people in Bury, it is 
clear that cannabis use has associations with smoking, and that those smoking and using 
drugs are more likely to be disaffected from education. It is essential that the needs of 
young people who are not in mainstream education are addressed.  
 
The tobacco alliance will aim to work collaboratively with those organisations that work 
with disaffected and socially excluded young people and their families, in order to 
address smoking prevalence and tobacco harms amongst this group. 

 
6.4 Electronic Cigarettes 
Electronic cigarettes (E-cigarette) are devices that look like real cigarettes and produce a 
vapour when used that looks similar to smoke They contain nicotine which is delivered 
either from a capsule that is inserted to the e-cigarette, or from a refill bottle. The nicotine 
is heated when the e-cigarette is used and then inhaled as vapour. E-cigarettes are 
battery operated and can be charged using a USB connection or a battery pack.  
 
There is very limited research about e-cigarettes. Currently, in the United Kingdom, they 
are not regulated and are legal. There have been concerns that they could encourage 
young people to become addicted to nicotine. There is also no regulation as to how much 
nicotine is delivered at any one time.  
 
In recent months, there have been reports of disposable electronic cigarettes being 
marketed towards children. There are various flavours available which are largely 
nicotine free,  and they are sold for £3-4, dependent upon how many ‘puffs’  can be 
extracted from the cigarette. These are becoming increasingly popular and anecdotal 
reports suggest that they have been sold in and around schools, and that some brands 
may even contain nicotine. This is obviously a cause for concern in that they prolong the 
normalisation of the appearance of ‘smoking’ and should they contain nicotine, they are 

Document Pack Page 32



23 

likely to draw children and young people into smoking cigarettes and other tobacco 
products when they become older. 
 
In some countries, for example, in the United Arab Emirates, Brazil and Panama. In 
Switzerland, e-cigarettes containing nicotine are illegal.  
 
The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) has not issued guidance 
or recommended the use of e-cigarettes as a smoking cessation aid. The NHS therefore, 
cannot recommend these for use as a smoking cessation aid. NICE published guidance 
about nicotine replacement products for tobacco harm reduction in June 2013. Whilst e-
cigarettes are not recommended as a smoking cessation product, the guidance suggests 
that they may be less harmful to use than cigarettes. The MHRA (Medicines and Health 
Regulatory Authority) also recommended in June 2013 that e-cigarettes should be 
regulated as medicines are. New legislation is likely to be adopted in 2014. This 
regulation is likely to come into force by 2016. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance will continue to monitor any future development by way of health 
recommendations or regulation by any other authority and will ensure that the local 
population is made aware of any of these, whether they promote, or make suggestions 
otherwise about the use of these products. 
 
6.5 What we will do  
We will continue to provide information to organisations and to members of the public 
about the harms of secondhand smoke. The Tobacco Alliance will recruit champions 
within organisations to deliver key messages within their workplaces and to their client 
groups. 
 
We will look for ways to gather local intelligence in order to determine the extent of the 
use of illicit and illegal tobacco in Bury. We will continue to educate our children and 
young people about the harms of tobacco, and the potential ways that they may be 
targeted to take up tobacco use. 
 
We will learn from other areas about their experiences in tackling Shisha use. We will 
develop local intelligence to determine the nature of the problem in Bury and will use 
effective communications campaigns to deliver key messages about Shisha use to 
children and young people, and to any other communities identified as using Shisha. 
 
We will look at ways to address cannabis use alongside the use of tobacco. We will keep 
abreast of current trends such as the use of cannabis oil in e-cigarettes, and look for 
ways of gathering intelligence about where children and young people access cannabis. 
 
We will monitor the situation with electronic cigarettes and prepare for any new evidence 
or policy change regarding the use of these as a stop smoking aid.  

Document Pack Page 33



24 

7. Enabling smokers who 
want to quit, to be able to 
quit with the right support. 
 
7.1 Deprived communities 
The 2008 Bury Health Survey states that the prevalence for smoking in Bury is 21.6%. 
The table below shows the wards where the highest prevalence of smoking occurs. 
These are generally concurrent with those wards known to have the highest deprivation. 
The linear shows the average prevalence for the Borough. 
 

 
 
It is essential that services are targeted at areas of higher deprivation if smoking 
prevalence is to be reduced. The Tobacco Alliance will work with partners to ensure that 
tobacco-related interventions, wherever possible, are targeted at those most deprived 
areas.  
 
Bury is made up of six townships, each of which contain a number of wards. 
 

Bury East Township 
Bury East is made up of three wards; East, Moorside and Redvales. It fares worse than 
the rest of Bury in many health outcome measures, including smoking. It is the most 
deprived township in the Borough and has the lowest life expectancy for males and 
females.   
 
This township has the second highest levels of smoking in the Borough (20.5%), with 
East Ward having 26.3% of its populations who are smokers. Bury East requires a 
considerable amount of targeted tobacco control work in order to reduce the obvious 
health inequalities present. 
 

Current smoking prevalence by ward as determined by the 2008 Bury Health Survey

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

A i
n s
w
o r
t h

B l
a c
k f
o r
d  
B r
i d
g e
,  H
o l
l i n
s  
a n
d  
S
u n
n y
b a
n k

B
r a
n d
l e
s h
o l
m
e

C
a r
r c
l o
u g
h  
a n
d  
R
a i
n s
o u
g h

C
e n
t r a
l  R
a d
c l
i f f
e

C
e n
t r a
l  W
h i
t e
f i e
l d
 a
n d
 t h
e  
E l
m
s  
E
s t
a t
e

C
h e
s h
a m
,  P
i m
h o
l e
 a
n d
 B
u r
y  
C
e n
t r e

E a
s t
 B
u r
y

E a
s t
 E
l t o
n

E
a s
t  P
r e
s t
w
i c
h

E
a s
t  R
a d
c l
i f f
e

E a
s t
 W
h i
t e
f i e
l d
 a
n d
 t h
e  
H
i l l
o c
k  
E
s t
a t
e

F
a i
r f i
e l
d ,
 J
e r
i c
h o
 a
n d
 T
o p
p i
n g
 F
o l
d

H
o l
c o
m
b e
 B
r o
o k
,  
G
r e
e n
m
o u
n t
 a
n d
 H
a w
. . .

K i
r k
h a
m
s  
a n
d  
S
i m
i s
t e
r

L o
w
e r
c r
o f
t  a
n d
 S
e d
d o
n s
 F
a r
m

N
o r
t h
 P
r e
s t
w
i c
h

N
o r
t h
 R
a d
c l
i f f
e

O
u t
w
o o
d ,
 C
a m
s  
L a
n e
 E
s t
a t
e  
a n
d  
C
h a
p e
l . .
.

R
a m
s b
o t
t o
m

R
e d
v a
l e
s  
a n
d  
F i
s h
p o
o l

S o
u t
h  
P r
e s
t w
i c
h  
a n
d  
S e
d g
l e
y  
P a
r k

S u
m
m
e r
s e
a t

T o
t t i
n g
t o
n

U
n s
w
o r
t h

W
a l
m
e r
s l
e y
,  L
i m
e f
i e
l d
 a
n d
 S
e e
d f
i e
l d

W
a l
s h
a w
 a
n d
 W
o o
l f o
l d

W
e s
t  P
r e
s t
w
i c
h

W
e s
t  W
h i
t e
f i e
l d

W
o o
d h
i l l

P
r
e
v
a
le
n
c
e

Current smokers Linear (Current smokers)

Document Pack Page 34



25 

Bury West Township 
Bury west consists of two wards; Church and Elton. This ward fares better than the rest 
of Bury for smoking, but still has poor outcomes for male life expectancy. It is second 
worst to Bury East. Bury West has the lowest proportion of current smokers in Bury. Both 
wards have a lower than the Bury and National averages for smoking prevalence. Elton’s 
is 15.5% and Church is 15.2%.  
 
In order to meet government targets for 2020, it is essential that Tobacco Control work 
continues applied in this Township at a more general level. 
 

Prestwich Township 
Prestwich is the most Southern township of the Borough and consists of three wards; 
Holyrood, Sedgley and St. Mary’s.  
 
In many health outcomes it fares better than the rest of Bury, but its smoking levels are 
worse. Holyrood ward has the highest levels of adults smoking in Prestwich and the 
fourth highest in the Borough.  
 
This would suggest that targeted tobacco control work should take place in this ward. St. 
Mary’s also has higher than the Bury average level of smokers and would benefit from 
the same. 
 

Radcliffe Township 
Radcliffe consists of three wards; Radcliffe North, Radcliffe East and Radcliffe West.  
 
Radcliffe is the second most deprived township in the Borough. Radcliffe also has the 
highest proportion of current smokers in the Borough, suggesting that Tobacco control 
work, and particularly stop smoking services should be targeted towards this area. 
 
Radcliffe West and East wards have the higher levels of smoking with prevalences of 
26.1 and 23.9 respectively. 

 
Ramsbottom, Tottington and North Manor Township 
Ramsbottom, Tottington and North Manor Township has the lowest mortality rate and is 
the least deprived township in Bury. It has the second lowest proportion of current 
smokers. North Manor ward has the lowest prevalence in all of Bury at 12.1%, whereas 
Ramsbottom is the 7th highest overall at 18.2%.  
 
The township would benefit from general tobacco control work with a more targeted 
approach in Ramsbottom. These wards are largely rural and it is important to recognise 
that rural setting may have more difficulty accessing services that are often provided 
more centrally. Therefore, it is essential that best use is made of the community settings 
in these areas in order to deliver tobacco free messages. 
 

Whitefield and Unsworth Township 
This township is made up of three wards; Besses, Pilkington Park and Unsworth. It is 
situated towards the South of the Borough and is bordered by Radcliffe.  
 
Overall, the township is less deprived than Bury, but Besses ward has a higher level of 
deprivation than the Whitefield and Unsworth average. The township has the third lowest 

Document Pack Page 35



26 

proportion of current smokers. Besses has the highest proportion of adult smokers in the 
township at 18.8%, which is the 6th highest proportion in the Borough.  
 
Whitefield and Unsworth Township will benefit from generic Tobacco Control 
interventions, with a more targeted approach to the population in the Besses ward. 
 

7.2 Routine and manual workers and those currently not working 
Routine and Manual Workers are particular occupational groups defined by the National 
Statistics Socio-Economic Classification (Office for National Statistics, 2005). They 
include such occupations as HGV driver, labourer and sewing machinist.  
 
Routine and manual workers and those who are currently not working are likely to live in 
those areas with higher levels of deprivation, and with higher levels of smoking. They are 
a target group for Tobacco Control work because of the generally higher levels of 
smoking, but also because illicit and illegal tobacco products are more likely to be the 
product of choice in areas of deprivation.  
 
Routine and Manual Workers have a higher prevalence of smoking and therefore are 
more at risk of developing co-morbidities associated with smoking. This in turn put their 
families at greater risk of becoming smokers and having smoking-related diseases.  
 
Businesses whose staff have high levels of smoking prevalence are likely to have 
increased sickness absence due to smoking-related diseases. They may also be more at 
risk from fires. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance will identify businesses and organisations in Bury that are likely to 
have a significant workforce that fits into the category of Routine and Manual.  
 
Interventions will be targeted and these organisations will be supported to develop good 
practice around tobacco control. Through multi-agency work, the strategy will aim to 
reduce the prevalence of smoking amongst this population group, and therefore to 
reduce the health inequalities experienced by them and their families.  
 
With the current economic situation, it is likely that more people are currently not working, 
and therefore it becomes more difficult to target interventions through workplaces. The 
Tobacco Alliance will identify settings that may enable access to people who are out of 
work, but will also include in its communications plan, a strategy for cascading 
information about services and other tobacco control campaigns. 
 
Welfare reforms, introduced in April of 2013 are likely to pose challenges to the delivery 
of the Tobacco Control agenda. Recipients of benefits will in future receive universal 
credit. Payments for such things as housing benefit will be made directly to them, rather 
than to the housing provider.  
 
This potentially raises issues for people who may already struggle to manage their 
finances. They may see this as an opportunity to spend more money on tobacco 
products, or if benefits are reduced, may turn to other sources of tobacco such as illicit 
and illegal products.  
 
The Tobacco Alliance will monitor the situation and target resources where necessary to 
those geographical areas or population groups most likely to be affected by the reforms. 

Document Pack Page 36



27 

7.3 Children and young people 
The Public Health Outcomes Framework (DH, 2012) suggested a number of measures 
for various Public Health outcomes, one of which is a measure of smoking prevalence at 
15 years of age. It has not yet been decided how this will be measured, however, 
measuring smoking prevalence in young people is a good proxy measure of whether or 
not tobacco control interventions targeting young people and their families are working. In 
order to reduce the uptake of smoking amongst children and young people, it is essential 
that effective interventions are used, and that they are applied in the correct settings and 
geographical areas. Measuring prevalence at 15 years old will act as an indicator of the 
level of success of these interventions, although by which means this will be measured is 
yet to be confirmed. 
 
There is a larger proportion of under-19 year olds in Bury than there is in the North West 
and England as a whole. The latest North West Trading Standards Survey of young 
people (TSNW, 2009) found that more than a fifth of young people in the North West 
were smokers. This figure had not changed since 2007.  
 
This has a number of implications for the Tobacco Strategy: 
 
There is obviously much work to be done in stopping the inflow of young people regarded 
as smokers. The strategy recognises the role that schools play in ensuring that children, 
young people and their families are educated in the harms of tobacco uses, and that 
policies such as Smokefree schools, are in place to protect children and young people 
from these harms.  
 
Whilst there is no longer a local Healthy Schools programme in Bury, schools are still 
encouraged to receive National Healthy Schools accreditation. Work carried out by 
schools through Personal, Social and Health Education (PSHE) as well as the 
Citizenship curriculum endorses to a great extent the aims of this strategy.  
 
The tobacco free schools toolkit, produced in 2012 for use in Bury Schools, offers a 
means of support and information to continue with Tobacco free work in schools. The 
Tobacco Alliance will ensure that this resource is kept up to date in order that schools 
feel confident to address the ever-changing tobacco control agenda with pupils, staff and 
families. It will endeavour to produce a similar resource that is useful for primary schools 
in Bury. 
 
Support from retailers and from Trading Standards is essential in order that young people 
are prevented as far as possible from making underage purchases of tobacco and from 
purchasing illicit tobacco which is likely to be cheaper for them. Bury Tobacco Alliance 
will use the North of England ‘Tackling Illicit Tobacco’ campaign to support work at a local 
level.  
 
Bury Trading Standards will continue to carry out test purchases in shops selling tobacco 
products and will aim to reduce the numbers selling products to under 18 year olds by 
enforcement activities. 
 
The Smoking Services available for Young People will need to be targeted through 
schools, Youth Services, Youth Offending Team, Children’s Centres, YPAS and other 
organisations that are likely to come into contact with children and young people. 

Document Pack Page 37



28 

The Tobacco Alliance will continue to promote the Smokefree Homes initiative both 
locally and on the back of regional and national campaigns such as ‘Take 7 steps out’.  
 
It will continue to work with partners such as the Fire Service to deliver this programme of 
work, and will actively seek to work with other front line members of staff, such as health 
visitors, to expand the delivery. 
 
 The Smokefree homes scheme will also be targeted towards those who foster children, 
through Children’s Services, as part of a stepped approach to its implementation, and the 
Tobacco Alliance will investigate ways of ensuring that our most vulnerable children and 
young people are protected against the harms caused by tobacco products, including 
Shisha and other tobacco products, and secondhand smoke. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance will build on the established work around Smokefree Homes, and 
look for support in promoting Smokefree Cars across the borough. 
 

7.4 Pregnant women and new parents 
Currently, the prevalence of women smoking at time of delivery (SATOD) stands at 
15.62% for Bury. This is a vast reduction on previous years and within the targets set 
locally, however this is still almost 3% higher than the England average of 13.2%. In 
order that this prevalence can be improved upon further, Tobacco Control work will 
continue to be targeted towards this population group through the Specialist Stop 
Smoking Service Community Midwife, through community midwifery teams and through 
children centres within Bury.  
 
Similar pregnancy stop smoking schemes are run in other local areas, and SATOD data 
is collected nationally, so it is expected that wherever mothers from Bury deliver their 
babies, data will be collected that will help us to determine the prevalence of smoking for 
pregnant women. The Bury Stop Smoking Service will continue to follow up new mothers 
who have quit at twelve weeks post-partum, in order that they may receive appropriate 
support to stay quit after pregnancy. 
 
The Smokefree Homes and Cars scheme will be promoted within Children’s Centres and 
other settings which parents and their children access. The success of the Smokefree 
homes and cars scheme will be monitored by the amount of people who are recruited as 
‘champions’ in a particular setting or workplace, and who complete the brief, online 
training course. 
 
It is intended that grandparents, other family members and childminders will also be 
recruited to the scheme as part of a phased approach. 
 

7.5 Black and minority ethnic groups 
It is important to understand the ethnic mix of the Bury population. Different ethnic groups 
may be more likely to use particular types of tobacco such as snuff, oral tobacco and 
hookahs. 
 
‘According to the 2001 Census, 93.9% of Bury’s population is white with ‘White British’ 
representing 90.7% (compared to 87% nationally). The remaining 6.1% is made up of 
ethnic communities with the largest group being Pakistani at 3% of the population.  
Indians are the second largest group representing 1.4% of the population. The largest 
concentration of non-white residents is in East Ward where ethnic groups make up over 

Document Pack Page 38



29 

20% of residents.  The Census however is 9 years old and more recent estimates (2006) 
suggest that the white population has fallen to 87.9% (compared to 84% nationally), with 
the largest proportional increase being in the Bangladeshi community.’ 

(Bury JSNA, 2010) 
 
The 2011 census data shows that the ‘White British’ population has decreased to 85.3% 
with the remaining 14.7% made up of a number of different ethnic groups, the largest of 
which is Pakistani at 4.9% (9,002 people). Another significant population group is ‘Other 
White’ at 2.5% (4,706 people). This would include people who are from Eastern 
European countries. (Figures from ONS, 2013) 
 
It is important that services are targeted to meet the needs of particular ethnic groups to 
ensure equity and accommodate cultural diversity.  
 
The Tobacco Alliance will continue to monitor the changing population trends and to 
actively seek new ways of delivering services to address the needs of particular ethnic 
groups. 
 
 

7.6 People with mental health needs 
 
NICE guidance states that smoking rates are much higher amongst people with mental 
health problems than in the general public. People with neurotic disorders are twice as 
likely to smoke compared to those without, and having more than one neurotic disorder is 
associated with heavier smoking. Studies have shown prevalence amongst this group to 
be around 64%. People with mental health problems are also likely to spend a large 
proportion of their income on smoking, as many live on a low income. 

(NICE, 2004) 
 

According to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Bury (2010), around 25,000 
adults in Bury will have mental Health needs. The report also states that 24% of 16-19 
year old females and 9% of 16-19 year old males have a neurotic disorder. 40% of Bury’s 
Looked after Children have ‘significant mental health needs’. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance recognises that people with Mental Health needs are likely to also 
have physical health needs, and that those who smoke are also likely to suffer the 
impacts of low income combined with a large proportion of that income being spent on 
tobacco products. Low income is also related to housing needs, employment and other 
determinants of health.  
 
The Tobacco Alliance will aim to work with partners such as Six Town Housing to 
develop good practice in Tobacco Control, in order to address some of these needs. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance will aim to ensure that people with mental health problems are free 
from the harms of tobacco, by promoting Smokefree policy in secure units and other 
residences.  
 
It will aim to target the population group with tailored stop smoking interventions that are 
delivered by qualified staff who are aware of the specific needs of people with mental 
health problems. It will also aim to make stop smoking services accessible to people in 

Document Pack Page 39



30 

secure accommodation and mental health hospital wards by offering training to relevant 
staff, and providing services in accessible places.  
Partners that promote the Tobacco Free agenda will aim to be empathic to the needs of 
people with mental health problems and will take into consideration these needs when 
developing and implementing tobacco free interventions. 
 

7.7 What we will do  
We will target tobacco control interventions and services at those communities with high 
prevalence, as determined by local health surveys and the Integrated Household Survey. 
 
We will tackle the tobacco use in workplaces with high levels of routine and manual 
workers where there is known to be higher prevalence of smoking. We will look for ways 
to access those who are currently out of work from those same work groups in order to 
support them to quit and remain quit. 
 
We will aim to reduce the uptake of smoking and tobacco use amongst children and 
young people by working with schools and other establishments that children and young 
people access. We will develop a programme of work for Primary Schools that tackles 
prevention. 
 
We will work with Children’s centres and services that work with pregnant women and 
new parents to promote the Smokefree homes and cars scheme and to provide 
information about protecting children from the harms of tobacco, and Stop Smoking 
support. 
 
We will monitor the changing population of Bury and aim to provide information and 
services that reflect the diverse needs of the various ethnic groups in the borough. 
 
We will recognise the needs of mental health service users and promote stop smoking 
services with this group.  

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 40



31 

8. Communications and 
campaigns 
 
A Communications plan will be developed annually and refreshed quarterly. This plan will 
incorporate national, regional and local campaigns. It will aim to proactively promote the 
work of the Tobacco Alliance, and will also encourage reactive communications when 
required.  
 
The Tobacco Alliance will have a corporate communications link from within Bury Council 
who will offer advice about communications activity, and may also take the lead on some 
of the campaigns that take place throughout the year. 
 
The communications plan will ensure that tobacco control activity is routinely promoted 
within and reported to member organisations, as well as to members of the public. The 
plan will ensure that members of the Public are able to comment, respond to and 
participate in developments of the work of the Tobacco Alliance. Public engagement will 
be a standing agenda item on quarterly Tobacco Alliance agendas. 
 
National No Smoking Day takes place annually in March and this provides an opportunity 
for Bury to raise the profile of the work of the Tobacco Alliance locally and link with 
national and regional media activity.  
 
The Tobacco Alliance will seek to procure sufficient resources, whether financial or 
otherwise, to promote No Smoking Day in Bury. The Tobacco Alliance will also aim to 
participate and promote other National and regional campaigns and events such as the 
national Quit Kit campaign and the Greater Manchester First Stop Health Bus. 
 

8.1 What we will do  
We will use national and regional campaigns to promote tobacco control work in Bury. 
We will develop a local communications plan to ensure key messages are delivered at 
the right time.  

 
We will plan for local events and secure the necessary resources to deliver high impact 
Tobacco Control interventions at least twice per year. 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 41



32 

9. Public consultation and 
patient involvement 
Members of the public will be consulted on this strategy and the progress it is making 
through the following forums: 
 
§ Township forums 
§ Strategic Health Group 
§ HealthWatch (formerly Bury LINk) 
§ Youth cabinet 
 
Any formal consultation that takes place regarding this strategy will be included as an 
agenda item at the next Tobacco Alliance meeting and any actions required will be 
addressed by the group. 
 

9.1 What we will do  
We will engage with the new Healthwatch organisation in order to ensure that the patient 
is at the heart of all local tobacco control work. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Document Pack Page 42



33 

 

10. Monitoring and data 
collection 
The effectiveness of this strategy will be monitored by the Tobacco Alliance through 
regular review of action plans and data monitoring. The Alliance will have a standing 
agenda item to review data supplied with the purpose of monitoring the effectiveness of 
the action plans in delivering expected outcomes. Deliverable outcomes will reflect the 
Public Health Outcomes Framework, the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for 
Bury and the demographic makeup of the local population. It is expected that these 
outcomes will be refreshed annually through the action plans below. 
 
The Tobacco Alliance will produce an annual report, to communicate its successes, gaps 
in provision and areas for development to members of the public. The report will inform 
future refreshes of the strategy, and potentially where funding and other resources 
should be directed. 
 

10.1 What we will do  
We will collect and monitor data that demonstrate to us and to others that the work of the 
Tobacco Alliance is effective and making a difference. We will report annually our 
successes and areas for development. 
 

Document Pack Page 43



34 

11. Action Plans 
Overarching Aim: Enabling smokers in Bury who want to quit, to be able to quit with the right support.  

Planned Actions Lead 
Organisation 

Q1 Update Q2 Update Q3 Update Final Outcome 

To identify those 
workplaces with 
higher numbers of 
Routine and 
Manual workers 
and deliver 
targeted tobacco 
control to these. 

Bury Stop 
Smoking 
Service 

    

To work with 
Children’s Centres 
and services that 
work with pregnant 
women and new 
parents to deliver 
enhanced stop 
smoking support. 

Bury Stop 
Smoking 
Service (Oral 
Health 
Promotion? 
Midwifery/ 
Health Visiting?) 

    

To use local health 
survey and the 
Integrated 
Household Survey 
to determine how 
health 
improvement 
services should be 
commissioned and 
in which 
geographical areas 
there should be a 
greater focus. 
 
 
 

Public Health     

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 44



35 

To ensure that Stop 
Smoking Service 
Advisors receive the 
appropriate training 
to deliver effective 
interventions to 
those with Mental 
Health needs. 

Bury Stop 
Smoking 
Service 

    

To use information 
from the Integrated 
Household Survey to 
determine the 
current 
demographics for 
Bury and design 
services with the 
needs of the 
population in mind. 

Public Health     

      

Overarching Aim: Tackling the accessibility of tobacco products for young people, particularly in relation to       
illegal and illicit tobacco, underage sales and niche products. 

Planned Actions Lead 
Organisation 

Q1 Update Q2 Update Q3 Update Final Outcome 

To develop a pack 
for Primary 
schools’ use to 
raise awareness of 
how children and 
young people may 
be targeted with 
illegal and illicit 
tobacco, and other 
products such as 
Shisha. 

Public Health     

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 45



36 

To work with 
secondary schools 
and to enable them 
to deliver tobacco 
education and stop 
smoking support. 

Bury Stop 
Smoking 
Service/ Public 
Health 

    

To develop ways of 
gathering and 
recording intelligence 
about sales and use 
of illegal and illicit 
tobacco. 

Trading 
Standards 

    

To gather 
intelligence about 
Shisha use in Bury in 
order to determine 
the nature of the 
problem in this area. 

Environmental 
Health. 

    

To provide up to date 
and relevant 
information to 
children and young 
people about a range 
of products that may 
be associated with 
tobacco use such as 
cannabis and shisha, 
and also the newer 
disposable electronic 
cigarettes that are 
aimed at children. 

Public Health     

Develop a system for 
reporting, collecting 
and collating ‘soft 
data’ that will inform 
of any new 
developments 
around tobacco 
promotions and 
products. 

Public Health     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 46



37 

      

Overarching Aim: Protecting children, families and communities from the effects of secondhand smoke. 

Planned Actions Lead 
Organisation 

Q1 Update Q2 Update Q3 Update Final Outcome 

Identify champions 
within 
organisations to 
complete training 
and be a key 
contact for 
communications, 
campaigns and 
circulation of 
resources. 

Public Health     

Identify opportunities 
to educate and 
communicate with 
Bury residents about 
the harms of 
secondhand smoke. 

     

Include shisha 
smoking in any 
information or 
communications 
about secondhand 
smoke.  

     

 
COMMUNICATIONS PLAN 

Planned Actions Lead 
Organisation 

Q1 Update Q2 Update Q3 Update Final Outcome 

To deliver a 
minimum of 2 high 
profile campaigns 
each year. 

LA Comms     

To develop a 
Tobacco Alliance 
website on the 
Bury.gov server. 

LA Comms? 
Tobacco 
Alliance 

    

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 47



38 

To communicate with 
the newly formed 
Health Watch and 
secure its 
membership of the 
Tobacco Alliance. 

Public Health     

To plan at least one 
Patient and Public 
engagement 
exercise each year 
whereby patients 
and public are able 
to contribute to 
Tobacco Alliance 
work. 

Tobacco 
Alliance 

    

To localise any 
regional and national 
campaigns and 
ensure that 
information is 
communicated 
across Bury. 

LA comms/ 
Public Health 

    

To take the lead from 
Tobacco Free 
Futures to deliver 
media releases in a 
timely manner as 
and when these are 
provided by TFF. 

Public Health     

To raise the profile of 
the Tobacco Alliance 
and its work in 
relevant newsletters, 
team briefs etc. 

Public Health/ 
LA Comms 

    

Organise task and 
finish groups as and 
when necessary to 
plan actions/ 
campaigns 
necessary to protect 

Public Health/ 
Tobacco 
Alliance 

    

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 48



39 

from the harms of 
tobacco. 

 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 49



40 

 

With thanks to everyone in the Bury Tobacco Alliance Group and special thanks to Dr 
Peter Elton, Frances Carbery, Kate Shepherd, Peter Jagger, Andrew Johnson and 
Councillor Pat Karney.  
 

Document Pack Page 50



 - 1 - 

Equality Analysis Form      
 

The following questions will document the effect of your service or proposed policy, 

procedure, working practice, strategy or decision (hereafter referred to as ‘policy’) 

on equality, and demonstrate that you have paid due regard to the Public Sector 

Equality Duty.  

1. RESPONSIBILITY  

 

Department  Public Health 

Service Adult Care Services 

Proposed policy Tobacco Control Strategy for Bury 

Date April 2013 

Officer responsible 
for the ‘policy’ and 
for completing the 

equality analysis 

Name Frances Carbery 

Post Title Health Improvement Specialist 

Contact Number 0161 253 6879 

Signature 
 

Date August 2013 

Equality officer 

consulted 

Name Mary Wood 

Post Title Principal Officer - Equalities 

Contact Number 0161 253 6795 

Signature 

     31/2013 
Date 13th August 2013 

2. AIMS  

 

What is the purpose 
of the 

policy/service and 
what is it intended 
to achieve? 

 

The Tobacco Control Strategy for Bury focuses on the 

delivery of local programmes of work to address the aims 

of the national strategy for Tobacco Control- A Smokefree 

Future (Department of Health, 2010). It aims to: 

 

• Reduce prevalence of smoking year on year and 

according to national guidance; 

• Enable smokers in Bury who want to quit, to be able 

to quit with the right support; 

• Tackle the accessibility of tobacco products for 

young people, particularly in relation to illegal and 

illicit tobacco, underage sales and niche products; 

• Protect children, families and communities from the 

effects of secondhand smoke. 

 

In Bury, target groups have been identified in the strategy 

which will see the greatest reduction in health inequalities 

when tobacco control measures are applied. Campaigns 

and interventions will be targeted towards these groups in 

order that the aims of the local strategy can be met. The 

groups have been identified according to levels of 

Document Pack Page 51



 - 2 - 

deprivation, using the Indices of Multiple Deprivation, and 

township profiles created by Public Health Intelligence. 

Smoking prevalence is generally higher in more deprived 

areas and therefore resources will be targeted towards 

these areas. Pregnant women are a target group because 

we not only want them to have healthy pregnancies with 

few complications, but we also want to help them to 

protect their unborn children, and any other children they 

have from the harms of secondhand smoke. We want to 

reduce the uptake of smoking amongst children and young 

people to give them the best start they can possibly have 

and to reduce prevalence in future years. 

Full details of the target groups can be found in the 

strategy. The deliverable outcomes will be the 

responsibility of the Tobacco Alliance. 

 

Who are the main 
stakeholders? 
 

Bury residents 

The Bury Tobacco Alliance 

Public health department/ Adult Care Services/ Bury 

Council/ Children’s Services 

Trading Standards and Environmental Health 

Pennine Care Foundation Trust (Stop smoking service, 

health visitors, school nurses, health trainers, Oral Health 

Promotion) 

Pharmacies 

Greater Manchester Probation Trust 

Greater Manchester Police 

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service 

Bury Healthwatch 

Six Town Housing 

B3DSA and the voluntary and community sector 

Document Pack Page 52



 - 3 - 

3. ESTABLISHING RELEVANCE TO EQUALITY 

 

3a. Using the drop down lists below, please advise whether the 

policy/service has either a positive or negative effect on any groups of 
people with protected equality characteristics.  

If you answer yes to any question, please also explain why and how that 
group of people will be affected.  

 

Protected 

equality 
characteristic 

Positive  

effect 
(Yes/No) 

Negative  

effect 
(Yes/No) 

Explanation 

Race Yes 

 

 

No The government has identified priority 

target groups for smoking cessation 

services. We aim to target groups with 

higher prevalence of tobacco users e.g. 

oral tobacco products (e.g. chewing/ 

paan) and shisha  are likely to be used 

more in BME communities. 

Disability Yes 

 

 

No People with mental health problems 

are more likely to be smokers. People 

who smoke are more likely to 

experience mental health problems. 

The strategy targets people with 

mental health problems in order to 

reduce smoking prevalence and the 

health inequalities experienced by this 

group. 

Gender No 

 

 

No       

Gender 

reassignment 

 

No 

 

No       

Age 

 

 

Yes No One of the Government's aims is to 

reduce the uptake of smoking in 

children and young people. The 

strategy will deliver activities that 

target children and young people. 

Sexual 

orientation 

 

No No       

Religion or belief 

 

 

No No       

Caring 

responsibilities 

 

Yes No Delivery of stop smoking services in 

particular is meant to be accessible 

and therefore services are delivered at 

a wide variety of venues and through 

different media e.g. telephone, face to 

face enabling those with caring 

responsibilities to have easier access. 

Document Pack Page 53



 - 4 - 

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

 

Yes No There are government targets to 

reduce smoking at time of delivery and 

therefore there are specific services 

and media campaigns that will 

encourage pregnant women to quit 

smoking. 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

 

No No       

 

3b. Using the drop down lists below, please advise whether or not our 

policy/service has relevance to the Public Sector Equality Duty. 
If you answer yes to any question, please explain why. 

 

General Public Sector 

Equality Duties 

Relevance 

(Yes/No) 

Reason for the relevance 

Need to eliminate 

unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and 

victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the 

Equality Act 2010 

 

No       

Need to advance equality 

of opportunity between 

people who share a 

protected characteristic 

and those who do not 

(eg. by removing or 

minimising disadvantages 

or meeting needs) 

 

Yes Tobacco use is more prevalent in 

deprived sectors of the community and 

its harms more often experienced by 

people who live in more deprived 

areas. The tobacco strategy aims to 

reduce health inequalities by applying 

targeted tobacco control activities to 

those groups who experience the 

greatest inequalities due to tobacco 

use. Resources and campaigns will be 

targeted towards those groups with 

higher prevalence of smoking (some of 

our target groups) and those who are 

traditionally difficult for services to 

access or have difficulty accessing 

services, such as offenders.  

Need to foster good 

relations between people 

who share a protected 

characteristic and those 

who do not (eg. by 

tackling prejudice or 

promoting 

understanding) 

 

No       

Document Pack Page 54



 - 5 - 

 

 
3c. If you have answered ‘No’ to all the questions in 3a and 3b please 

explain why you feel that your policy/service has no relevance to equality. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
4. EQUALITY INFORMATION AND ENGAGEMENT 

 
4a. For a service plan, please list what equality information you currently have 

available, OR for a new/changed policy or practice please list what equality 
information you considered and engagement you have carried out in relation to it. 

 

Please provide a link if the information is published on the web and advise when it 

was last updated? 

 

(NB. Equality information can be both qualitative and quantitative. It includes 

knowledge of service users, satisfaction rates, compliments and complaints, the 

results of surveys or other engagement activities and should be broken down by 

equality characteristics where relevant.) 

 

Details of the equality 

information or 
engagement 

Internet link if published  Date last updated 

Prevalence rates for 

smoking by area code/ 

ward. 

 

 Annually updated 

and most recent 

public health data 

from January 2013 

Department of health 

returns co-ordinated by 

 Quarterly returns, 

most recent April 

 

If you answered ‘YES’ to any of 

the questions in 3a and 3b 

 
Go straight to Question 4 

 

If you answered ‘NO’ to all of the 

questions in 3a and 3b 

 

Go to Question 3c and do not 
answer questions 4-6 

Document Pack Page 55



 - 6 - 

Stop Smoking Service 

showing demographics 

of service users. 

 

2013 

Bury Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment 

 

http://www.bury.gov.uk/index.asp

x?articleid=7262 

 

Currently being 

updated- last 

available is 

November 2010 

There is a range of 

guidance around 

tobacco control 

measures available on 

the National Institute for 

Health and Care 

Excellence website 

(NICE) 

 

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/i

ndex.jsp?action=bypublichealth&PU

BLICHEALTH=Smoking+and+tobac

co#/search/?reload 

 

 

Consultation for the 

Bury Tobacco Control 

Strategy has been 

conducted with the 

Tobacco Alliance 

through Tobacco 

Alliance meetings and 

smaller working groups. 

  

The 2011 census data 

shows that the ‘White 

British’ population has 

decreased to 85.3% 

with the remaining 

14.7% made up of a 

number of different 

ethnic groups, the 

largest of which is 

Pakistani at 4.9% 

(9,002 people). Another 

significant population 

group is ‘Other White’ at 

2.5% (4,706 people). 

This would include 

people who are from 

Eastern European 

countries. (Figures from 

ONS, 2013) 

 

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/datase

ts-and-

tables/index.html?pageSize=50&so

rtBy=none&sortDirection=none&ne

wquery=census+2011+ethnicity&c

ontent-

type=Reference+table&content-

type=Dataset 

2011 

National Tobacco Control 

Strategy- A Tobacco 

Free Future 

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.

gov.uk/20130107105354/http://w

ww.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandst

atistics/Publications/PublicationsPoli

cyAndGuidance/DH_111749  

2010 

 

 

Document Pack Page 56



 - 7 - 

4b. Are there any information gaps, and if so how do you plan to tackle them? 

 

Yes- we currently have no input from the newly formed ‘Healthwatch’. Formerly 

there was some input at meetings and via e-mail from Bury LINk. The new 

Healthwatch has been added to the distribution list for the Tobacco Alliance and will 

be invited to all future meetings and involved in future consultation and decision-

making for the delivery of the Tobacco Strategy outcomes. 

 

There may be more gaps that the Tobacco Alliance is unaware of. The delivery of 

the strategy will be monitored throughout the year and updated accordingly. It is 

expected that gaps in information will be identified as the strategy is implemented 

and as such, the strategy and its action plans will be updated accordingly. 

 

5. CONCLUSIONS OF THE EQUALITY ANALYSIS 

 

What will the likely 

overall effect of your 
policy/service plan be 

on equality? 
 

The strategy will target the population of Bury, and will 

focus to a larger extent on those target population 

groups who are likely to have a higher prevalence of 

smoking and therefore be disproportionately affected by 

the harms caused by tobacco. This in essence means 

that there is likely to be a positive effect on the 

characteristics identified in 3a of this document (race, 

disability, age, caring responsibilities, pregnancy or 

maternity). 

If you identified any 

negative effects (see 
questions 3a) or 
discrimination what 

measures have you put 
in place to remove or 

mitigate them? 
 

 

Have you identified 
any further ways that 
you can advance 

equality of opportunity 
and/or foster good 

relations? If so, please 
give details. 
  

 

What steps do you 
intend to take now in 

respect of the 
implementation of 

your policy/service 
plan? 
 

The Tobacco Strategy will be presented to Adult Care 

Services SMT and will seek ratification through this 

channel and through the Tobacco Alliance. It is likely to 

be ratified by Scrutiny, the Health and Wellbeing Board 

and Cabinet. The strategy will be delivered by the 

Tobacco Alliance. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 57



 - 8 - 

6. MONITORING AND REVIEW 

 

If you intend to proceed with your policy/service plan, please detail what 
monitoring arrangements (if appropriate) you will put in place to monitor 
the ongoing effects. Please also state when the policy/service plan will be 

reviewed. 
 

The action plans will be monitored on a quarterly basis by the Tobacco Alliance and 

updated accordingly. It is expected that they will be amended as necessary and in 

line with any major policy changes. An annual report of the strategy will be provided 

reviewing its progress against targets. The strategy will run for five years but will be 

refreshed annually to ensure that action plans remain appropriate and delivering the 

aims of the strategy. 

 

Bury Council has a responsibility to deliver outcomes for tobacco control as listed in 

the Public Health Outcomes Framework. The strategy will be monitored against 

these outcomes using the council’s performance management software, PIMS. 

 

 

 
 

COPIES OF THIS EQUALITY ANALYSIS FORM SHOULD BE ATTACHED TO ANY 

REPORTS/SERVICE PLANS AND ALSO SENT TO THE EQUALITY INBOX 
(equality@bury.gov.uk) FOR PUBLICATION. 

 
 

Document Pack Page 58



 1

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
MEETING: CABINET 

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
DATE: 

 
27 NOVEMBER 2013 
4 DECEMBER 2013 

 
SUBJECT: 

 
CORPORATE FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT – 
APRIL 2013 TO SEPTEMBER 2013 

 
REPORT FROM: 

 
DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND CABINET 
MEMBER FOR FINANCE & CORPORATE AFFAIRS 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
STEVE KENYON, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF 
RESOURCES (FINANCE & EFFICIENCY) 
 

  

 
TYPE OF DECISION: 

 
CABINET (KEY DECISION)  
 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS: 

This paper is within the public domain 
 
 

 
SUMMARY: 

 
The report informs Members of the Council’s financial 
position for the period to September 2013 and projects 
the likely outturn at the end of 2013/14. 
 
The report also includes Prudential Indicators in 
accordance with CIPFA’s Prudential Code. 

 
OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION 

 
Members are asked to note the financial position of the 
Council as at 30 September 2013, and to approve the 
s151 officer’s assessment of the minimum level of 
balances. 
 

 

IMPLICATIONS:  
 

Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework: 

Do the proposals accord with Policy 
Framework? Yes.  
  

Statement by the s151 Officer: The report has been prepared in accordance 
with all relevant Codes of Practice. 

 

 

NOTICE OF KEY DECISION 

 
Agenda 

Item 

Agenda Item 5Document Pack Page 59



 2

There may be risks arising from remedial 
action taken to address the budget position; 
these will be identified by Directors at the 
quarterly Star Chamber meetings. 
 

Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources: 

Successful budget monitoring provides early 
warning of potential major overspends or 
underspends against budgets which Members 
need to be aware of.   
 
This report draws attention to the fact that, 
based on the most prudent of forecasts, 
several budget hotspots exist which will need 
remedial action. 
 
Members and officers will be examining these 
areas in more detail at the Star Chambers. 
 
This report is particularly significant as it 
informs Members of the baseline financial 
position from which the Council sets its 
2014/15 budget. 

 
Equality/Diversity implications: 

 
No  

 
Considered by Monitoring Officer: 

 
Budget monitoring falls within the 
appropriate statutory duties and powers and 
is a requirement of the Council’s Financial 
Regulations to which Financial Regulation B: 
Financial Planning 4.3. (Budget Monitoring 
and Control) relates.  The report has been 
prepared in accordance with all relevant 
Codes of Practice. 

 
Are there any legal implications? 

 
Yes    

  
Wards Affected: All 
 
Scrutiny Interest: 
 

 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 
TRACKING/PROCESS   ASSISTANT DIRECTOR: Steve Kenyon 

 

Chief 
Executive/ 
Strategic 

Leadership 
Team 

 Cabinet Overview & 
Scrutiny 

Committee  

Council Ward 
Members 

Partners 

11/11/13 27/11/13 4/12/13    
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 60



 3

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report informs Members of the forecast outturn for 2013/14, based upon current 

spend for the period to September 2013, in respect of the revenue budget, capital 
budget and the Housing Revenue Account. 

 
1.2 Projections are based on current trends, information, and professional judgement 

from service managers and finance staff. 
  
1.3 The revenue budget projections highlight the fact that budget pressures do still exist 

in some key areas and it will be necessary to continue to examine options for 
improving the situation further.   

 
2.0 BUDGET MONITORING PROCESSES  

 
2.1 Reports are presented quarterly to facilitate close monitoring of spend and 

implementation of action plans during the year. 
 
2.2 Reports are also presented to the Strategic Leadership Team on a monthly basis. 

Detailed monitoring information will also be discussed at Star Chamber meetings 
during the year. 

 
2.3 It is intended that improvements will continue to be made to the budget monitoring 

process, building on the significant developments implemented over the past few 
years.  

 
3.0 SUMMARY OF REVENUE BUDGET POSITION 
 
3.1 The table below outlines the annual budget and forecast outturn based upon known 

factors and the professional views of service managers as at month 6:  
 

Department Budget Forecast Variance 
 £000 £000 £000 

Adult Care Services 53,047 53,188 +141 
Chief Executives 4,438 5,071 +633 
Children’s Services 32,189 32,777 +588 
Communities & Neighbourhoods 36,315 36,476 +161 
Non-Service Specific 22,618 21,791 -827 

TOTAL 148,607 149,303 +696 

 
3.2 The projected overspend of £0.696m represents approximately 0.47% of the total 

net budget of £148.607m.   
 

3.3 Members need to be aware that financial reporting involves an element of judgement, 
and this particularly applies to the treatment of budget pressures.  Often an area of 
overspending identified at this point in the year will resolve itself before the end of the 
year following appropriate remedial action.   
 

3.4 However it is felt appropriate to alert Members to potential problems at this stage so 
that they can monitor the situation and take ownership of the necessary remedial 
action and this is the basis on which the report is written. 

 
 

Document Pack Page 61



 4

4.0    SERVICE SPECIFIC FINANCIAL MONITORING 
 
4.1     ADULT CARE SERVICES 
 
4.1.1 The current projected overspend for Adult Care Services is £0.141m, which is 0.27% 

of the Department’s net budget of £53.047m. This is a similar position to the outturn 
position for 2012/13, which was £0.103m overspent. 

 
4.1.2 Reasons for major variations are illustrated in the chart below; 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.3 Further details by service area are outlined below, along with remedial action being 

taken.   
 

Activity Variance 
£’000 

Reason Action Being Taken 

Shortfall in 
partner 
contributions 

+449 Partner 
funding 

A number of the services being 
reviewed will depend on contributions 
from Health and other partners to 
continue or increase.  The rationale for 
this is that the outcomes from those 
services are significantly linked with 
health outcomes and therefore jointly 
or fully funded by Health.  Negotiations 
are ongoing, still to be finalised. 
 

Care in the 
Community: 

+2,891 in 
total 

Demand 
Pressures, 

A range of preventative strategies 
continue to be introduced to manage 

 

Demand 

Pressures 

+£2,891k 

Service 

Redesign 

+£344k 

 

 

 

 

Reduced 

commitments 

-£146k 

Vacancy 

Management 

-£645k 

 

  

   

   

    

   

Use of 

External 

Funding  

    -£2,752k  

       

Shortfall in 

Partner 

Contributions 

 

+£449k 

      

   

   

      

      

      

    Total +£141k  

Document Pack Page 62



 5

 
 
 
Older People 
 
Adults with 
Physical 
Disabilities 
 
 
Adults with 
Learning 
Disabilities 
 
Adults with 
Mental Health 
needs 
 
 
Adults with 
Substance Misuse 
needs 

broken 
down as: 

 
+989 

 
+,1036 

 
 
 
 

+611 
 
 
 

+271 
 
 
 
 

-16 

especially re: 
personal 
budgets/ 
supported 
living 
numbers 
(residential 
care numbers 
are reducing) 

this demand, such as reablement, 
triage, improved screening, 
‘signposting’, and crisis response as 
well as a programme of training for 
front line staff around efficient support 
package planning. In addition, all 
existing high & medium cost care 
packages are kept under regular 
review.  Adult Care’s Procurement 
Team efficiencies contribute 
significantly to keeping spending levels 
down. Non-recurring health funding is 
being used in initiatives that should 
help to reduce the rate of increase of 
demand, which will be monitored as 
part of the evaluation process. 
However, the full benefits of these 
measures will not appear until future 
years. 2013/14 shortfall being met by 
offsetting savings in other service 
areas. 

Strategic Housing 
Unit 

+108 Historical 
shortfall in 
Partner 
Contribution  
 

Options for addressing this are still 
under evaluation and should be 
implemented during 2013/14, to 
become effective during 2014/15. 

Service redesign 
options  

+236 Income 
shortfall; 
service 
redesigns not 
fully 
implemented 
during 
2013/14 

A full service review is underway for 
the Integrated Community Equipment 
Store, which will determine its future 
operating structure.   
The pressure in relation to Seedfield 
will remain until the full corporate 
review is completed.  In the meantime, 
the overspend will be met temporarily 
from other areas. 
 

Reduced 
commitments 

-146k Reduced 
commitments 

There are a number of areas where 
current projections of social care 
support are under budget, an example 
of this is the take up of carers personal 
budgets.  In future this commitment 
will be used to offset the carers support 
provided from within the community 
care budget. 
 

Staff Vacancies -645k Vacancy 
Management 

Combination of gradual recruitment 
into services recently subject to major 
restructures, and deliberate holding 
back in recruiting into non-front line 
vacancies. There is no correlation 
between vacancy levels in services and 
sickness rates.   

Document Pack Page 63



 6

Use of Health 
monies and grant 
funding 

-2,752k Funding from 
health monies 
and grant 
funding 

Utilisation of historic underspends from 
Adult Care Specific Grants and a 
contribution of the Health monies 
towards the demand pressures within 
Community Care are ensuring that the 
net expenditure is balanced in year.  
Future actions around service redesign 
and invest to save initiatives will 
ensure that there is reduced reliance in 
future on grants and short term 
solutions to the ongoing issue of 
demand management. 
 
The Government has recognised that 
the reforms within the Health Service 
will impact significantly upon the 
activity of Adult Social Care, and future 
funding is earmarked to be transferred 
into Adult Social Care from 2015/16 to 
meet these future demands.  We do 
not yet know the local figures. 
 

 
 
4.2 CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DEPARTMENT 
 
4.2.1 The Chief Executive’s Department is forecasting an overall overspend of £0.633m, or 

14.3% of a net budget of £4.438m. 
 
4.2.2 Reasons for major variations are illustrated in the chart below; 
 
 
         

  Corporate      

 Shortfall of Subscriptions      

 Council Tax /  Members     

 

NNDR 

Summons +£90K Allowances 

 

   

 Costs Income  - £90K 

Municipal 

Elections    

 +£102k   

 

-£61k 
Other 

   

     - £15K   

Asset Management     
 

   

- Property Income         

Shortfall       

        

+£607k    

 

 

Total= 

+£0.633m  

        

        

        

         

        

Document Pack Page 64



 7

4.2.3 Property Services remains the most significant pressure facing the Department, off-
set by other savings, as follows; 

 

Activity Variance 

£’000 

Reason Action Being Taken 

Property 
Services 

+607 Shortfall in income due 
to reduced occupancy 
levels. 

Although most of the units at 
Bradley Fold that were vacated 
in 2011/12 have now been re-
let, rents are significantly 
lower than what were achieved 
before the economic downturn.  
A number of units which were 
previously let are in the 
process of being demolished 
owing to their poor condition.  
A business case for the 
construction of new 
accommodation is being 
developed. 
The accounts for the Mill Gate 
Centre have been scrutinised 
in detail to ensure that all 
monies properly due to the 
Council are being paid and this 
will be an ongoing process. 

Corporate 
Subscriptions 

+90 Payments to AGMA are 
forecast to overspend 
by £90,000 in 2013/14 
(compared with 
£70,000 in 2012/13).  
The increase of 
£20,000 is mainly due 
to the “Public Sector 
Reform” element of the 
subscription.  

Monitoring of the value 
obtained to the Council from 
the AGMA subscription 
compared with the cost.   

Summons 
Costs 

+102 Summons costs income 
for council tax and 
business rates are 
forecast to under-
recover against 
historically high income 
budget targets. 

Internal measures being taken 
to improve the income 
recovery rate. 

Members 
Allowances 

-90 Reductions in the level 
of Special 
Responsibility 
Allowances paid to 
Members continue to 
result in this forecasted 
underspend. 

To be used to assist in 
reducing the estimated 
overspend within the 
department.  

Municipal 
Elections 

-61 No local elections in 
2013, a 'fallow' year. 

Currently reviewing the 
underspend to reduce budgets 
in years that we have local 
elections. 

Document Pack Page 65



 8

Other 
Variations 

-15 Various minor 
underspends 

To be used to assist in 
reducing the estimated 
overspend within the 
department. 

 
 
4.3 CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
  
4.3.1 The Children’s Services budget is currently projecting an overspend of £0.588m, or 

1.83% based on net budget of £32.189m.  
 
4.3.2 Reasons for major variations are illustrated in the chart below; 
 
 

 

Learning 

Division 

Funding 

Pressures 

+£408k      

 

 

Greater 

Achievement 

of Plan for 

Change 

Savings 

Options 

    

Children's 

Social Care 

Demand 

Pressures 

 

 

Use of 

one-off 

funding 

 
  

   

Reduced 

Spending on 

Services 

  

  

   

 
  

 -£412k Other 

Variations 

-£14k 

 

  -£615k  

   -£365k Total 

 

+£588k       

 

+£1,586k 

 

 

       

 
 
4.3.3 Further details of the major variations are provided in the table below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 66



 9

Activity Variance 
£’000 

Reason Action Being Taken 

Social Care 
Demand 
Pressures 
 
 
 
Leaving Care 

+1,586 
 

Made up 
of: 
 
 

+440 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Spending on 
housing and 
further 
education of 
19+ students 
who have now 
left our care 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Spending on housing for children 
with complex needs and those 
living in semi-independent 
placements has increased by 
£485,000. The semi-independent 
placements cost between 
£40,000 and £50,000 each for a 
full year.  
 

Demand 
pressures - 
Children’s 
Agency 
Placements 
 
 

+1,146 Continuing 
increased 
Demand 

The continuing overspend has 
decreased from the projected 
£2million+ overspending during 
the corresponding period in 
2012/13. 
 
A range of preventative 
strategies have been/are being 
introduced to try to minimise 
future spending, with all high and 
medium cost care packages 
being rigorously reviewed.  It is 
estimated that during the 
forthcoming months this 
overspend will continue to reduce 
the cost burden on this highly 
volatile budget. 
 
However, there is no guarantee 
that the total expenditure will be 
reduced as unknown future 
demand pressures could have a 
significant impact on the budget. 
 
Children's Services constantly 
strive to minimise the costs of 
each placement, which are 
amongst the lowest in the north-
west, but it is extremely difficult 
to contain a budget that is 
subject to such significant and 
variable demand pressures. 
 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 67



 10

Activity Variance 
£’000 

Reason Action Being Taken 

Learning 
Division 
Funding 
Pressures 
 
 
SEN Home to 
School 
Transport 

+408 
 

Made up 
of: 
 
 

+221 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Increased 
demand and 
slow take-up of 
a new service  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Increased numbers of pupils with 
more complex needs require 
individual bespoke transport 
provision. 
 

SEN Home to 
College 
Transport 
 

+117 Increased 
demand and 
loss of external 
funding 
 

Increased numbers of students 
are attending local colleges on a 
daily basis, rather than attending 
residential provision in other 
areas, thereby increasing 
transport costs paid for by the 
authority.  Any savings in 
education costs benefit the 
Dedicated Schools Grant. 
 
In addition, specific external 
funding became unavailable in 
the previous financial year 
 

Youth Service +70 There is an 
ongoing 
shortfall on the 
salary budget, 
an increase in 
the rates bill 
and computer 
software 
licences. 
 

The 2013/14 overspending is 
being funded by savings from 
elsewhere within the Learning 
Division (see below) 

Strategic 
Management 

-412 Further 
maximisation 
of external 
grant funding 
as part of the 
Plan for 
Change 
arrangements 

Financial arrangements have 
been put in place to ensure 
adequate funding is made 
available for children and young 
people with Special Educational 
Needs.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 68



 11

Activity Variance 
£’000 

Reason Action Being Taken 

Use of Previous 
Year’s Monies 

-615 Previous years’ 
underspending 
of external 
grant monies 
brought 
forward 

During 2012/13 Children’s 
Services took action to reduce 
spending in particular areas, 
including many supported by 
external grants as well as utilising  
underspendings on some 
externally funded schemes that 
now no longer exist. These 
unspent monies were brought 
forward into 2013/14 and are 
being used to offset some of the 
demand pressures afflicting the 
department. 
 

Reduced 
Spending on 
Services 
 
 
Connexions 

-365 
 

Made up 
of: 
 

-42 

 
 
 
 
 
Underspend 
due to 
maternity 
leave not being 
covered. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
The reduced spending is being 
used to contribute to the 
forecasted overspending in the 
Youth Service 
 

School 
Attendance 
 

-40 
 

Increased 
income and 
staff changes 

Projecting an underspending as a 
result of penalty notice income, 
additional buy-back of service by 
schools and a member of staff 
reducing their working hours. 
 

Early Years 
including 
Children’s 
Centres 

-150 Non-filling of 
staff vacancies 
and reduced 
spending 

The forecast underspend is based 
on 2012/13 spending levels and 
will require Early Years and 
associated children’s centres to 
maintain this level of spending.   
 

Various other 
services 
 

-133 Non-filling of 
staff vacancies 
and reduced 
spending 
 

To be used to assist in reducing 
the estimated overspend within 
the department. 

Other 
Variations 
 

-14 Various minor 
underspends 

To be used to assist in reducing 
the estimated overspend within 
the department. 

 

 

Document Pack Page 69



 12

4.4 COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS 
 

4.41 The department is currently projecting an overspend of £0.161m, or 0.44% of the 
latest net expenditure budget of £36.315m.   
 

4.4.2 Reasons for major variations are illustrated in the chart below   
  
 
 

 
4.4.3  Further details of the variances are provided in the table below; 

 
Activity Variance 

£’000 
Reason Action Being Taken 

Income 
variances 

+704 Grant funding of arts salaries 
(£26k). 
 
Library income shortfalls £87k. 
 
 
 
 
Shortfall in pest control & licensing 
income, net of one-off income re 
scrap metal licences £33k. 
 
Planning & Building regulations 
income shortfall reduced to £22k 
following receipt of income for a 
number of major applications. 
 
Parking & enforcement income 
shortfall increased to £227k, offset 
by refund re Millgate car park 

Use to offset overspends. 
 
 
Reduce spend levels (see 
below); Review level of service 
provision required by schools in 
light of reduced buy-back. 
 
Review costs & fees; offset by 
other savings. 
 
 
Budget adjustment of £137k in 
2013/14; limit expenditure. 
 
 
 
Use one-off refund and other 
reductions in spend to limit 
impact on overall budget 

  Waste Disposal 

Levy Costs 

 

+£17k 

 

Vacancies and 

other staff cost 

variances 

 

-£378k 

  

 

PFC Savings 

Not Fully 

Achieved 

 

+£332k 

 

 

  

 
Changes in 

Discretionary 

Spend 

 

-£219k 

 

 
 

Transport & 

carbon 

reduction cost 

savings 

 

-£295k 

 

Income Variances 

 

+£704k 

 

 

 

 

 

    

    

    

    

     

  

 

Total = +£161k 

      

Document Pack Page 70



 13

(£103k). 
 
Shortfall on s38 and other 
highways income £34k. 
 
 
Reduced income at leisure centres 
and Civic Halls £162k. 
 
 
 
 
Shortfalls on income for bulky 
waste £47k and trade waste £169k 
income. 
 
Emergency & security service 
exceeding surplus targets (£30k). 
 
Other income variances on trading 
services & depot £82k. 
 
 
 
 

position. 
 
Monitor income levels and 
adjust expenditure & targets 
where possible. 
 
Continue to market & promote 
services, assess income from 
events and costs incurred.  Use 
other  underspends to meet 
shortfall. 
 
Offset by spend reductions (see 
below). 
 
 
Maintain income levels & 
control spend. 
 
Will reduce when Fernhill 
operations relocate to Bradley 
Fold & surplus premises are 
disposed of. Ongoing 
monitoring of the achievement 
of income levels and progress 
on completion of works 
assumed in budget forecasts; 
implementation of measures to 
improve efficiency.  
Offset by underspends 
elsewhere in the department. 

PFC  savings 
not fully 
achieved 

+332 Libraries - phase 1 staff savings 
not fully implemented £36k. 
 
 
Highways - delay in staffing 
changes £11k and management 
restructure £30k; unlikely to 
achieve school crossing patrol 
income target £50k. 
 
Shortfall on income from highways 
permits (GMRAPS) and coring 
£105k. 
 
Destination management - £40k 
from rescheduled introduction of 
proposals.   
 
Planning £9k from delays in 
implementing the planned 
changes.  
 

Offset by savings from 
vacancies and meet full PFC 
target in phase 2. 
 
Bring forward proposals to 
meet savings targets as early 
as possible; use savings from 
vacancies to reduce overspend.  
 
 
Monitor income levels following 
implementation and review 
resources allocated to GMRAPS.  
 
Introduction of changes now 
underway. 
 
 
Currently consulting on staff 
changes to make this saving. 
 
Monitor income levels and 

Document Pack Page 71



 14

Shortfall on revised income target 
at CLC café £10k.   
 
 
Parks/grounds maintenance £41k 
from delays in implementing the 
planned changes. 

review options for improving 
net income.  
 
Introduction of changes now 
underway; restrict other 
expenditure to offset 
overspend.  

Increases in 
waste 
disposal levy 
costs 

+17 Forecast extra waste disposal levy 
charges - residual & recycling 
waste tonnage not achieving 
targets. The overspend has 
reduced significantly from month 3 
following a reduction in the 
tonnages of household, trade and 
street cleaning waste, but there is 
still a shortfall from targets for 
glasses/cans/bottles and paper.  

Continue to promote recycling 
activity, including regulatory 
activity as approved by Cabinet 
in Sept ; reduce residual waste 
by introducing recycling bins 
for litter and encourage 
recycling for commercial waste 
customers & school kitchens.    

Severance, 
vacancies and 
other staff 
cost variances 

-378 
 

One off severance costs £202k, 
partly offset by provision in budget 
for severance costs (£200k). 
  
Library posts held vacant in 
preparation for PFC savings 
(£126k). 
 
Grounds Maintenance staff cost 
over budget £35k due to cover for 
sickness. 
 
Salary savings in Environment 
(£30k) and Planning (£38k).  
Underspendings on Waste 
Management employees (£84k), 
and Transport services staff costs 
& overtime (£49k). 
 
Savings on staff costs/overtime in 
Architectural Practice (£19k). 
 
Underspends on management & 
administration staffing (£42k).  
 
Other minor variances (£27k). 

Spend is one-off to achieve 
planned savings longer term.  
 
 
Use savings to offset 
overspends.   
 
 
Reduction in spend on grounds 
& other areas to minimise 
impact.  
 
Use savings to reduce net loss 
of income. 
 
 
 
 
 
Reduces pressure from reduced 
income levels. 
 
Reduced overheads chargeable 
to front line and trading 
services. 

Reduced 
discretionary 
spend   

   -219 Adult Learning – overspends on 
exam fees, utility costs and 
supplies £33k. 
 
Underspend on library supplies to 
offset income shortfall (£23k). 
 
Additional costs for AGMA units 
£27k.  

Partly offset by salary savings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 72



 15

 
Increase in cost of parking 
enforcement contract (based on 
RPI) £25k. 
Saving on traffic management 
costs (£20k). 
 
Underspend on caddy liners 
(£182k). 
Contribution to set up costs £71k 
for recycling improvement plan 
approved at Cabinet Sept 2013. 
Increase in anticipated leaf clear 
costs following recent tender £55k 
Amended forecast of bulking up 
charges for garden waste (£52k).  
 
 
Underspends on supplies for 
grounds maintenance operations 
(£50k).  
 
Reduced office supplies & 
expenses (£27k) and underspend 
on unallocated budgets in DCN 
contingency account (£111k). 
 
Other minor variances £35k, 
including potential planning 
enquiry costs. 
 

 
Currently working with other 
authorities on new framework 
for contract renewal from April 
2014.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Use savings to offset 
overspends. 
 

Premises, 
transport & 
CRC  cost 
savings 

   -295 Car parks underspend on rates and 
surface water drainage costs 
(£43k). 
 
Waste management transport & 
fuel costs exceeding budget £38k. 
 
Cost of CRC allowances below 
budget provision (£103k). 
 
Updated estimate of part year 
saving from vacating Castle 
Buildings & Athenaeum House as 
part of office accommodation 
moves (£72k). 
 
Part year savings from Fernhill 
move to Bradley Fold (£35k). 
Underspends on transport repairs, 
hire & leasing costs (£104k). 
Other variances £24k. 

Use savings to offset 
overspends. 
 

 

Document Pack Page 73



 16

4.4 NON-SERVICE SPECIFIC  
 
4.5.1 There is a forecast net underspend of £0.827m, or 3.66% based on net budget of 

£22.618m. This relates primarily to the Council’s Treasury Management activity (see 
section 8.0, page 20 for further details) and an increased dividend of £400,000 due to 
the revaluation of Manchester Airport on the acquisition of Stansted Airport.  

  
5.0 CAPITAL BUDGET 
 
5.1 Capital Programme 
 
5.1.1 The revised budget and the estimated working budget for the Capital Programme 

2013/14 at Q2 is shown in the table below: 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.1.2 The expenditure and funding profile for the Capital Programme together with a 

detailed breakdown of the Original Approved Programme, the Revised Estimate, 
Forecast Outturn, Actual Spend up to end of Month 6 and the estimated under/over-
spend of the capital programme for 2013/14 is shown in Appendix A. 

 
5.1.3 Members should note that given the complexity and size of some of the larger 

schemes currently in the Council’s Capital Programme the information received from 
budget holders can vary significantly from one quarterly report to the next and should 
be read in this context. 

 
5.1.4 At the end of Quarter 2 a total of £11.928m of the 2013/14 Revised Budget has been 

identified for re-profiling into the 2014/15:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5.1.5 This position may change by the end of next quarter and throughout the rest of the 

year as more information on the details of the actual progress of the schemes 
becomes available.  

2013/14 £m 

Original Capital Programme 16.483 

Approved Slippage from 2012/13 13.772 

In year additions and other contributions 6.583 

Revised Budget for Year 2013/14 36.838 

Re-profiled projects into 2014/15 (11.928) 

Estimated working Budget for Year at Quarter 2 24.910 

Re-profiled schemes 2013/14  £m Funding source 

Chief Executive:  
Radcliffe TC redevelopment, Opportunity purchases  0.324 Council loan  
Children Services:  
Modernisation, Devolved formula Capital 9.738 Grant 

Adult Care Services:  
Mental Health, Empty Properties 0.360 

Council loan / 
Grant 

Adult Care Services:  
GM Green Deal and Eco Deliver Partnership 1.200 Council loan  

Communities and Neighbourhoods:  
Traffic management and parking 0.306 

Grant / Capital 
Receipts 

Total re-profiled schemes at Quarter 2 11.928  

Document Pack Page 74



 17

5.2  Expenditure 
 
5.2.1 The Forecast Outturn as at Month 6 is £24.890m and Budget Managers have 

reported that they expect to spend up to this amount by 31 March 2014. 
 
5.2.2 The actual expenditure realised by the end of Month 6 is reported at a total of 

£6.252m. 
 
5.2.3 The main areas of spend in the first quarter relate to: 
 

• Property Redevelopment Schemes -  £0.608m 
• Children’s Services  -       £2.288m 
• Planning Schemes  -       £0.240m 
• Highways Schemes -      £0.464m 
• Leisure Services Projects -      £0.125m 
• Disabled Facilities grants private sector -  £0.218m  
• Housing Public Sector schemes -    £0.951m 
• Disabled Facilities Adaptations public sector - £0.208m 

 
5.3 Variances 
 
5.3.1 Appendix A gives details of variances for each scheme based on latest available 

information and at Month 6 it shows a minimal projected underspend from the final 
working estimate for the year of £0.020m.  The individual variances within this figure 
are mostly made out of timing differences and it is expected that they will be resolved 
as the programme progresses into the second half of the financial year. 

 
5.3.2 Brief reasons for all variances are also provided in Appendix A. 
 
5.4  Funding 
 
5.4.1 The funding profile included in Appendix A shows the resources available to cover the 

capital programme during 2013/14. 
 
5.4.2 The principal source of funding for Capital schemes approved for the 2013/14 

programme is from in year external grants and contributions. External resources were 
also carried forward from previous years and available to finance re-profiled schemes.  

 
5.4.3 The Council and Cabinet have approved Invest to Save schemes that are supported by 

the Council’s own resources of £2.5m for the year and Corporate Redevelopment 
Projects that rely on future capital receipts of £1.9m. 

 
5.4.4 The updated position for capital receipts and borrowing required to support the 

programme at the end of Month 6 is reported below. The figures in the table show the 
funding requirement for the total revised capital programme and the expected 
resources from the Council at the end of Quarter 2 of the year. 

 

Document Pack Page 75



 18

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4.5 The actual amount of Council resources required to fund the estimated working 

budget and achieved expenditure at 31st March 2014 will be reduced with the re-
profiled schemes into 2014/15. 

 
5.4.6 At Quarter 2 of 2013/14 the total capital receipts needed to finance the programme is 

estimated at £0.286m and Prudential borrowing at £4.372m. 
 
5.5 Capital Programme Monitoring 
 
5.5.1 The programme will continue to be monitored closely during the second half of the 

year to ensure that schemes completed by the end of the financial year are delivered 
per agreed time and costs and to minimise the slippage into 2014/15. Departmental 
representatives will examine and confirm any action necessary to ensure that 
effective use of resources and successful completion of schemes is achieved. 

 

6.0 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
 
6.1 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) relates to the operation of the Council’s housing 

stock and can be viewed as a landlord account. It is required by statute to be 
accounted for separately within the General Fund and is therefore effectively ring-
fenced.  

 
6.2 The latest estimates show a projected surplus (working balance carried forward) of 

£1.000m at the end of 2013/14. The projected outturn shows a working balance 
carried forward of £0.927m. See Appendix B.   

 
6.3 There are a number of variations that contribute to the projected outturn position 

however there are no areas where the variance exceeds 10% and £50k. 
 
6.4 The two main impacts on the HRA year end balance are normally void levels and the 

level of rent arrears, but levels of Right to Buy sales can also be a major influence 
on the resources available. 

 

2013/14  Use of Council Resources for Capital 
Investment 

£m 

Revised Capital Programme for the year 36.838 

Less external funding and contributions (30.214) 
Balance of programme relying on Council 
resources funded by 

 
6.624 

Use of Capital receipts  0.762 
Use of Prudential Borrowing for 2013/14 approved 
Invest to Save schemes 2.866 
Use of Prudential Borrowing for schemes approved in 
2013/14 from Capital receipts (not realised by March 
2014) 

 
1.382 

Use of Prudential Borrowing for the 2012/13 schemes 
re-profiled and brought forward 1.614 

Total Council Resources to be used  
to support the Capital Budget for Year 

 
6.624 

Document Pack Page 76



 19

Voids:  
The rent loss due to voids for April to September was on average 1.83% compared 
to a void target level set in the original budget of 1.8%. If this level continues for 
the rest of the year there would be a reduction in rental income of around 
£0.009m; the projection of rental income in Appendix B has been calculated on 
this basis. 
 
Six Town Housing have established a ‘Voids Team’ which brings together existing 
staff to focus on improving performance.  

 
Arrears:  
The rent arrears at the end of September totalled £0.898m, an increase of 10.1% 
since the end of March. Of this total £0.290m relates to former tenants and 
£0.608m relates to current tenants.    
 
The Council is required to make a provision for potential bad debts. The 
contribution for the year is calculated with reference to the type of arrear, the 
amount outstanding on each individual case and the balance remaining in the 
provision following write off of debts.  
 
The 2013/14 HRA estimates contain two provisions, £0.181m for uncollectable 
debts and £0.422m to reflect the potential impact that welfare benefit changes 
could have on the level of rent arrears.  
 
The assessment of the impact of benefit changes is ongoing and the method of 
calculating the contribution required is being reviewed therefore the projected 
outturn has not been amended at this stage. 

 
 Right to Buy Sales:  
Sales of dwellings declined significantly in recent years, from a peak of 243 in 
2003/04 to only 7 sales in 2009/10. There were 18 sales in 2010/11, 12 in 
2011/12 and 13 last year. 
 
The forecast for 2013/14 was set at 37, this being the level of sales assumed for 
Bury in the Government’s self–financing valuation.   
From April 2012 the maximum Right to Buy discount increased from £26,000 to 
£75,000. 
 
The number of sales has a direct effect on the resources available to the HRA – 
the average full year rent loss for each dwelling sold is around £3,700.  
 

6.5 There have been 19 sales in the period April to September and it is now expected that 
the total number of sales for 2013/14 will be at or near the level forecast. The level of 
applications and sales continues to be monitored and the rental income projections 
will be revised at the end of the third quarter if sales are expected to significantly vary 
from the forecast.   

 
7.0  PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR MONITORING 
 
7.1 It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the 

“Affordable Borrowing Limits”. The authority’s approved Prudential Indicators 
(affordability limits) for 2013/14 is outlined in the approved Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement. 

Document Pack Page 77



 20

 
7.2 The authority continues to monitor the Prudential Indicators on a quarterly basis and 

Appendix C shows the original estimates for 2013/14 (approved by Council on 20 
February 2013) with the revised projections as at 30th September 2013. The 
variances can be seen in the Appendix together with explanatory notes. The 
Prudential Indicators were not breached during the first three months of 2013/14. 

 
8.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
8.1 Investments: 
 
 At the 30th September 2013 the Council’s investments totalled £48.2 million and 

comprised:- 
 

Type of Investment     £ Million 

Call Investments (Cash equivalents) 
Fixed Investments (Short term investments) 

    38.6 
      9.6   

Total     48.2 

 
 All investments were made in line with Sector’s suggested credit worthiness matrices 

and the approved limits within the Annual Investment Strategy were not breached 
during the first quarter of 2013/14.  

 
 The Council has earned the following return on investments: 
 
 Quarter 1 0.95% 
 Quarter 2  0.83% 
  
 This figure is higher than Sector’s suggested budgeted investment earnings rate for 

returns on investments, placed for periods up to three months in 2013/14, of 0.50% 
  
8.2 Borrowing: 
 
8.2.1 No new external borrowing was undertaken in the quarter to 30th September 2013. At 

30th September 2013 the Council’s debts totalled £209.694 million and comprised:- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2.2 The overall strategy for 2013/14 is to finance capital expenditure by running down 

cash/investment balances and taking shorter term borrowing rather than more 

  30th September 2013 
  Principal Avg. 
  £’000 £’000 Rate 
Fixed rate 
 PWLB Bury 153,862   

 PWLB Airport 4,829   
 Market Bury 46,000 204,691  
Variable rate funding 
 PWLB Bury 0   
 Market Bury 0 0  
Temporary Loans / 
Bonds 

5,003 5,003  

Total Debt  209,694 4.43% 

Document Pack Page 78



 21

expensive longer term loans. With the reduction of cash balances the level of short 
term investments will fall. Given that investment returns are likely to remain low for 
the financial year 2013/14, then savings will be made by running down investments 
and taking shorter term loans rather than more expensive long term borrowing. 

 
8.2.3 It is anticipated that further borrowing will be undertaken during this financial year.  
 
9.0 MINIMUM LEVEL OF BALANCES 
 
9.1 The actual position on the General Fund balance is shown in the following table: 
  

 £m 

General Fund Balance 31 March 2013 per Accounts  10.730 

Less : Minimum balances to be retained in 2013/14 
Less : Contribution towards cost of Equal Pay 
Less : Forecast overspend  

-4.400 
-1.500 
-0.696 

 
Available balances at 1 April 2013 

 
4.134 

 
9.2    Based on the information contained in this report, on the risk assessments that have 

been made at both corporate and strategic level, on the outturn position for 2013/14 
and using information currently to hand on the likely achievement of savings options, 
it is clear that there is no reason to take the minimum level of balances above the 
existing level of £4.400m.  
 

9.3 In light of the above assessment it is recommended that the minimum level of 
balances be retained at £4.400m. 

 
9.4  Members are advised that using available balances to fund ongoing expenditure would 

be a breach of the Council’s Golden Rules. Likewise, Members are advised that the 
Authority faces significant funding reductions in the future, and balances are likely to 
be required to fund one-off costs of service transformation. 

 
10.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY  
 
10.1 There are no specific equality and diversity implications.   
 
11.0 FUTURE ACTIONS 
 
11.1 Budget monitoring reports will continue to be presented to the Strategic Leadership 

Team on a monthly basis and on a quarterly basis to the Cabinet; Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee; and Audit Committee. 

 
11.2 Q1 Star Chamber meetings have already taken place. Star Chambers have been 

diarised for Quarters 2 & 3 with Q2 meetings scheduled to take place throughout 
November 2013.   

 
 
 
Councillor John Smith, Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Finance & Corporate Affairs  
   

Document Pack Page 79



 22

________________________________________________________________ 
 
List of Background Papers:- 
 
Finance Working Papers, 2013/14 held by the Assistant Director of Resources (Finance & 
Efficiency). 
 
Contact Details:- 
 
Steve Kenyon, Assistant Director of Resources (Finance & Efficiency), Tel. 0161 253 6922, 
E-mail: S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk 

Document Pack Page 80



Bury MBC: Capital Budget Monitoring Statement  APPENDIX  A 

Month 6 -  2013/14 (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)

2013/14 

Original 

Aproved

Revised 

Capital 

Budget

Reprofiled 

to Future 

Years

Revised 

Budget for 

year     

 Forecast 

Outturn   

2013/14 

 Month 06 

Actual 

Year End 

Variance /  

(Underspen

d) or 

Overspend 

Col.5-Col.4

Month 6 

Variance / 

(Underspen

d) or 

Overspend 

Col.6-Col.5

D
ir

e
c

ti
o

n
 o

f 

T
r
a

v
e

l

Notes

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Chief Executive Opportunity Land Purchase -                 114            (114)           -                 0                0                0                  -                   JJJJ

Chief Executive Demolition of Former Police HQ, Irwell Street 300            
300            300            312            312            12                

-                   
JJJJ

Awaiting additional budget 

allocation

Chief Executive Acquisition of former Fire Station -                 5                -                 5                5                5                -                   -                   KKKK

Chief Executive Demolition of the Rock Fire Station -                 
131            131            131            60              -                   (71)               KKKK

Corporate project funded 

by capital receipt

Chief Executive Bury Market - New Toilets 9                9                9                9                0                  -                   JJJJ

Chief Executive Bradley Fold 127            127            127            70              -                   (57)               KKKK

Chief Executive Irwell Street Redevelopment -                 -                 50              32              50                (18)               JJJJ Fees expenditure only

Chief Executive Corporate ICT Projects 300            300            300            300            -                 -                   (300)             KKKK

Adult Care Services Older People 439            1,229         -                 1,229         1,329         351            99                (978)             JJJJ Project progressing

Adult Care Services Learning Disabilities -                 151            -                 151            151            2                -                   (149)             KKKK

Adult Care Services Mental Health -                 
950            (150)           800            800            -                 -                   

(800)             
KKKK

Adult Care Services Improving Info.Management -                 212            -                 212            212            -                 -                   (212)             KKKK

Adult Care Services Empty Property Strategy 199            425            (210)           215            215            10              -                   (205)             JJJJ

Adult Care Services Disabled Facilities Grant 620            1,082         -                 1,082         1,082         218            -                   (864)             JJJJ

Adult Care Services / Urban RenewalGM Green Deal and ECO Deliver Partnership 1,200 1,200         (1,200)        -                 -                 -                 -                   -                   KKKK

Children's  Services Support Services 24              -                 24              28              28              4                  -                   JJJJ

Children's  Services NDS Modernisation 10,541       (7,812)        2,729         2,724         1,056         (5)                 (1,669)          LLLL

Children's  Services Access Initiative -                 77              (58)             19              19              12              -                   (7)                 JJJJ

Children's  Services Derby High School Sport Hall - Council Capital Programme1,295         1,250         -                 1,250         1,000         (11)             (250)             (1,011)          LLLL In progress

Children's  Services Short Break Allocation 179            179            179            101            -                   (78)               KKKK

Children's  Services Early Education Fund 324            (300)           24              24              -                 -                   (24)               JJJJ

Children's  Services 16-19 Demographic Growth Fund 274            (174)           100            100            -                 -                   (100)             JJJJ

DCN - Arts, Libraries & Adult LearningRadio Frequency ID 221            -                 221            221            27              -                   (194)             KKKK

DCN - Highways Highway Network Services 2,529         2,530         -                 2,530         2,530         237            -                   (2,294)          KKKK

DCN - Highways Bridges 475            470            -                 470            472            157            2                  (315)             JJJJ

DCN - Highways Transportation & Parking 106            380            (28)             351            351            58              -                   (294)             KKKK

DCN - Highways Traffic Man't/Road Safety 250            466            (266)           200            200            13              -                   (187)             KKKK

DCN - Planning Development Group Projects 295            256            -                 256            256            18              -                   (238)             KKKK

DCN - Planning ELR Trust -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 1                -                   1                  KKKK

DCN - Planning Environmental Projects 320            
653            (12)             641            483            215            (158)             

(268)             
LLLL

HLF Bid supported by 

balance

DCN - Leisure Parks                   - 2                                  - 2                                 2                   - -                   (2)                 KKKK

DCN - Leisure Leisure and Sport Facilities 299            -                 299            295            125            (4)                 (170)             LLLL

DCN - Environmental Works Contaminated Land -                 51              -                 51              51              20              -                   (31)               KKKK

DCN - Environmental Works Air Quality -                 10              -                 10              10              -                 -                   (10)               KKKK

DCN - Environmental Works
Salix energy efficiency scheme replacement 

boiler 62              -                 62              62              -                 -                   
(62)               

KKKK

DCN - Other Re-cycling Initiative Extension -                 127            -                 127            127            40              -                   (87)               KKKK

DCN - Other Waste Infrastructure Grant -                 54              -                 54              54              -                 -                   (54)               KKKK

DCN - Operational Services Operational Depots Rationalisation 228            634            634            634            223            -                   (411)             KKKK

Six Town Housing  / Adult Care ServicesDisabled Facilities Adaptations 515            515            -                 515            715            208            200              (507)             KKKK STH to adjust budget

Six Town Housing - Public Sector HousingMajor Repairs Allowance Schemes 7,113         7,817         -                 7,817         7,511         951            (306)             (6,560)          LLLL

IN YEAR SCHEMES SUBTOTAL 16,183       33,451       (10,323)      23,128       22,773       4,546         (355)             (18,227)        

1)    SCHEMES DELIVERED WITHIN THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2013/14

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 81



Chief Executive Townside Fields - Joint Venture -                 

5                -                 5                5                274            -                   

269              

KKKK

Budget allocation under 

review by Property 

Services.

Chief Executive Radcliffe Town Centre Redevelopment 300            300            (210)           90              158            50              68                (108)             JJJJ

Chief Executive The Rock Fire Station Redevelopment 4                4                                 4                   -                    - (4)                 KKKK

Chief Executive New Leisure Centre at Knowsley Street -                 -                 71              71                              71 -                   JJJJ Fees expenditure only

Chief Executive Sale of Assets -                 
-                 -                 210            211                          210 

0                  
KKKK

Offset at year end against 

realised sales.

Children's  Services DFES - Devolved Formula                   - 2,118         (1,325)        793            793            396                               - (397)             KKKK

Children's  Services Targetted Capital Funds -                 611            (51)             560            560            371                               - (189)             KKKK

Children's  Services Children Centres -                 44              (19)             25              25              -                                    - (25)               KKKK

Children's  Services Extended Schools -                 285            -                 285            285            336                               - 51                KKKK

DCN - Envirnomental Svces Pimhole Renewal Area -                 -                 -                 (9)                                  - (9)                 KKKK

Planning Kirklees Trail - Wolfold -                 21              -                 21              6                6                               (14) -                   LLLL

LONGER TERM SCHEMES SUBTOTAL 300            3,386         (1,604)        1,782         2,117         1,706         335              (411)             

Total Bury MBC controlled programme 16,483       36,838       (11,928)      24,910       24,890       6,252         (20)               (18,638)        

Funding position:

Capital Receipts 1,940         762            (476)           286            696            

Reserve / Earmarked Capital Receipts 499            566            (104)           462            462            

General Fund Revenue 305            260            -                 260            9                

Housing Revenue Account -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

Capital Grants/Contributions 3,558         21,013       (9,858)        11,155       11,081       

HRA/MRA Schemes 7,628         8,313         -                 8,313         8,208         

Supported Borrowing / Other Loans -                 62                                - 62              62              

Unsupported Borrowing 2,554         5,862         (1,490)        4,372         4,372         

16,483       36,838       (11,928)      24,910       24,890       

(0)               

Key for budget monitoring reports

Projected Overspend (or Income Shortfall) JJJJ

a major problem with the budget more than 10% and above £50,000 KKKK

a significant problem with the budget more than 10% but less than £50,000 LLLL

expenditure/income in line with budget

a significant projected underspend (or income surplus) more than 10% but less than £50,000

a major projected underspend (or income surplus) more than 10% and above £50,000

2)    LONGER TERM SCHEMES DELIVERED OVER SEVERAL FINANCIAL YEARS
D

ocum
ent P

ack P
age 82



HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT Appendix B

April 2013 - September 2013 Monitor

2013/14 2013/14 2013/14 2013/14

Original Latest Projected Variation

Estimate Estimate Outturn Over/(Under)

          £ £ £ £

INCOME

   Dwelling rents 29,603,900 29,603,900 29,616,645 (12,745)

   Non-dwelling rents 219,300 219,300 220,737 (1,437)

   Heating charges 73,400 73,400 73,919 (519)

   Other charges for services and facilities 887,800 887,800 880,568 7,232 

   Contributions towards expenditure 54,600 54,600 54,600 0 

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

   Total Income 30,839,000 30,839,000 30,846,468 (7,468)

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

EXPENDITURE

   Repairs and Maintenance 0 0 0 0 

   General Management 773,500 773,500 723,057 (50,443)

   Special Services 732,600 732,600 732,301 (299)

   Rents, rates, taxes and other charges                88,100 88,100 80,100 (8,000)

   Increase in provision for bad debts - uncollectable debts 180,900 180,900 180,900 0 

   Increase in provision for bad debts - impact of Benefit Reforms 422,100 422,100 422,100 0 

   Cost of Capital Charge 4,593,200 4,593,200 4,704,769 111,569 

   Depreciation/Impairment of fixed assets - council dwellings 7,112,500 7,112,500 7,112,500 0 

   Depreciation of fixed assets - other assets 38,800 38,800 40,463 1,663 

   Debt Management Expenses 45,400 45,400 45,400 0 

  Contribution to Business Plan Headroom Reserve 3,689,400 3,689,400 3,689,400 0 

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

   Total Expenditure 17,676,500 17,676,500 17,730,990 54,490 

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

   Net cost of services (13,162,500) (13,162,500) (13,115,478) 47,022 

   Amortised premia / discounts (14,600) (14,600) (14,600) 0 

   Interest receivable - on balances (150,200) (150,200) (150,200) 0 

   Interest receivable - on loans (mortgages) (2,600) (2,600) (1,900) 700 

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

   Net operating expenditure (13,329,900) (13,329,900) (13,282,178) 47,722 

   Appropriations

   Appropriation relevant to Impairment 0 0 0 0 

   Appropriation relevant to depreciation and MRA (38,800) (38,800) 0 38,800 

   Revenue contributions to capital 515,400 515,400 515,400 0 
------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

   (Surplus) / Deficit before ALMO/SHU payments (12,853,300) (12,853,300) (12,766,778) 86,522 

   Payments to Six Town Housing / Transfers re Strategic

   Housing Unit excluded from above

   Six Town Housing Management Fee 12,718,600 12,718,600 12,718,600 0 

   Contribution to SHU Costs 320,000 320,000 320,000 0 
  ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

   Total 13,038,600 13,038,600 13,038,600 0 

   (Surplus) / Deficit after ALMO/SHU payments 185,300 185,300 271,822 86,522 

   Working balance brought forward (1,185,300) (1,185,300) (1,198,461) (13,161)

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

   Working balance carried forward (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (926,639) 73,361 

------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------

key for budget monitoring reports

Projected Overspend (or Income Shortfall) of

a major problem with the budget  - more than 10% and above 50K

a significant problem with the budget - more than 10% but less than 50K

expenditure/income on line with budget

a significant projected underspend (or income surplus) - more than 10% but under 50K

a major projected underspend (or income surplus)  - more than 10% and above 50K

Document Pack Page 83



Document Pack Page 84

This page is intentionally left blank



Prudential Indicator Monitoring Month 6 2013/14   Appendix C 
 
The table below shows the prudential indicators as derived from the Treasury Management 
Strategy Report for 2013/14 and the Original Budget for 2013/14 as approved at Council in 
February 2013. The Original Budget for 2013/14 is compared with the Forecast Outturn for 
2013/14 as at 30th September 2013. 

 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
Original 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn  

at Variance Notes 

    2013/14 30 Sept 13    

    £'000 £'000     

Estimate of Capital Expenditure      

  Non-HRA 8,855 16,664 88.19% 1 

  HRA existing expenditure 7,628 8,226  1 

  TOTAL 16,483 24,890    

         
Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR)      

  Non-HRA 129,764 129,514 (0.19%) 3 

  HRA existing expenditure 40,107 40,531  3 

 HRA reform settlement 78,253 78,253  3 

    248,124 248,298   

      

AFFORDABILITY 
Original 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn at  variance Notes 

    2013/14 30 Sept 13    

    £'000 £'000     

Estimate of incremental impact of capital 
investment decisions      

  
Increase in council tax (band D, per 
annum) £0.85 £0.00 

-
100.00% 4 

  Increase in housing rent per week £0.00 £0.00  5 

         
Ratio of Financing Costs to net revenue 
stream      

  Non-HRA 2.95% 2.94% (0.19%) 6 

  HRA  14.81% 14.81% 0.00% 6 

         
Net External Borrowing only to support the 
CFR in Medium Term £'000 £'000   

  Net External borrowing over medium term 206,621 207,940   7 

  Total CFR over Medium Term 248,124 248,298   7 

  Net External Borrowing < Total CFR TRUE TRUE    

          

            

EXTERNAL DEBT 
Original 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn at variance Notes 

    2013/14 30 Sept 13    

    £'000 £'000     

Authorised limit of external debt      

  Borrowing 214,500 214,500    

  Other long term liabilities 7,400 7,400    

 HRA reform settlement 79,300 79,300   

  TOTAL 301,200 301,200  8 

          

Operational boundary       

Document Pack Page 85



  Borrowing 189,400 189,400    

  Other long term liabilities 7,300 7,300    

 HRA reform settlement 79,300 79,300   

  TOTAL 276,000 276,000  8 

            

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
Original 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn  

at variance Notes 

    2013/14 30 Sept 13    

Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure         

  
Net principal re fixed rate borrowing / 
investments 140% 140%  9 

          

Upper limit for variable rate exposure       

  
Net principal re variable rate borrowing / 
investments -40% -40%  9 

         
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for 
longer than 364 days £10m £10m  10 

         

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing at 30 
Sept 2013 

Upper/lower 
limit Actual    

  Under 12 months 40% - 0% 7.19%     

  12 months and within 24 months 35% - 0% 2.96%     

  24 months and within 5 years 40% - 0% 6.04%     

  5 years and within 10 years 50% - 0% 6.86%     

  10 years and above 90% - 30% 76.94%     

 
 
Notes to the Prudential Indicators: 
 

1. The original budget shows the approved Capital Programme 
expenditure of £16,483,000. The forecast outturn of £24,890,000 is 
higher than budget because of slippage from 2012/13.  

 
2. Following the Government announcement to reform the system of 

financing Council housing, the Authority had to pay the Department for 
Communities and Local Government £78.253m on the 28th March 
2012. The Council financed this expenditure by PWLB loans.  

  
3. Capital Financing Requirement relates to all capital expenditure – i.e. it 

includes relevant capital expenditure incurred in previous years.  The 
Capital financing requirement reflects the authority’s underlying need 
to borrow. 

 
4. The finance costs related to the increases in capital expenditure impact 

upon Council tax. The increase in Council Tax reflects the level of 
borrowing to be taken in 2013/14 to finance current and previous 
years’ capital expenditure. 

 
5. There is no direct impact of capital expenditure on housing rents as the 

housing rent is set according to Government formula. 
 

6. The ratios for financing costs to net revenue stream for both General 
Fund and HRA have remained relatively stable. 

Document Pack Page 86



   
7. To ensure that borrowing is only for a capital purpose and therefore 

show that the authority is being prudent this indicator compares the 
level of borrowing and capital financing requirement (CFR) over the 
medium term.  The level of borrowing will always be below the CFR. 

 
8. The authorised limit and operational boundary are consistent with the 

authority’s plans for capital expenditure and financing.  The authorised 
limit is the maximum amount that the authority can borrow.  

 
9. The variable and fixed limits together look at the whole portfolio and 

will therefore together always show 100% exposure.  Variable interest 
rate limit can be positive or negative as investments under 364 days 
are classed as variable and are credit balances which are offset against 
debit variable loans.  The smaller the balance of investments, the more 
likely the variable limit will be positive as the variable loan debit 
balance will be higher than the credit investment balance offset against 
it.  

 
10.Principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days have been set 

at £10 million.  The investment balance is estimated to be cash flow 
driven, however if the opportunity arises that surplus investment 
balances are available then advantage will be taken of favourable 
rates. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 87



Document Pack Page 88

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
DECISION OF: 

 
CABINET 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
COUNCIL 
 

 
DATE: 

 
27 NOVEMBER 2013 
4 DECEMBER 2013 
11 DECEMBER 2013 
 

 
SUBJECT: 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY – MID YEAR 
REVIEW 2013/14 
 

 
REPORT FROM: 

 
CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE & CORPORATE 
AFFAIRS  
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
STEPHEN KENYON, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF 
RESOURCES (FINANCE AND EFFICIENCY) 
 

  

 
TYPE OF DECISION: 

 
COUNCIL 
 

 
FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS: 
 

 
The report is within the public domain 
 

 
SUMMARY: 

 
This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance 
with CIPFA’s Code of Practice, and covers the following: 
 

• An economic update for the 2013/14 financial year 
to 30 September 2013 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 

• The Council’s capital expenditure (prudential 
indicators) 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 
2013/14  

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 
2013/14 

• A review of any debt rescheduling undertaken 
during 2013/14 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and 
Prudential Limits for 2013/14 

 

Agenda 

Item 

 

REPORT FOR DECISION 

Agenda Item 6Document Pack Page 89



 2

 
OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION 

 
It is recommended that, in accordance with CIPFA’s 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management, the report be 
noted. 
 

IMPLICATIONS:  

 
Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework: 

 
Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework?  Yes     
 

 
Statement by the S151 Officer: 
Financial Implications and Risk 
Considerations: 

 
Treasury Management is an integral part of 
the Council’s financial framework and it is 
essential that the correct strategy is adopted 
in order to ensure that best value is obtained 
from the Council’s resources and that assets 
are safeguarded. 
 

 
Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources: 
 

 
There are no additional resource implications.  
 
Treasury management activities so far have 
produced a projected underspending for the 
year of £0.934m.  This will help to support 
other areas of the Council’s budget that are 
under pressure from user demand or 
economic conditions. 
   

 
Equality/Diversity implications: 
 

 
No  
 

 
Considered by Monitoring Officer: 
 

 
Yes 
 

 
Wards Affected: 

 
All 
 

 
Scrutiny Interest: 
 

 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee  

 
TRACKING/PROCESS   DIRECTOR: STEVE KENYON 
 

Chief Executive/ 
Strategic Leadership 

Team 

Cabinet 
Member/Chair 

Ward Members Partners 

No 
 

Yes N/a N/a 

Scrutiny Commission  Committee Council 

Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

  Cabinet 
27/11/13  

11/12/13 

    

 

Document Pack Page 90



 3

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash raised 

during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury management 
operations ensure this cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies 
being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering optimising investment return. 

  
  The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding 

of the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning 
to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations.  This 
management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term 
loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  

 
 As a consequence treasury management is defined as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”. 

 
1.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of 

Practice on Treasury Management was adopted by this Council on 24 February 
2010.  

 
 The primary requirements of the Code are as follows:  
 

1. Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement 
which sets out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury 
management activities. 

2. Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set 
out the manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives. 

3. Receipt by the full council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement - including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy - for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review 
Report and an Annual Report (stewardship report) covering activities 
during the previous year. 

4. Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and 
monitoring treasury management policies and practices and for the 
execution and administration of treasury management decisions. 

5. Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management 
strategy and policies to a specific named body.  For this Council the 
delegated body is: Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  

 
1.3 This report fulfils the requirement to produce a mid-year review. 
 
 
2.0 ECONOMIC UP-DATE 
 
2.1 Economic Performance to date 

2.1.1 During 2013/14 economic indicators suggested that the economy is gradually 
recovering, albeit from a low level.   After avoiding recession in the first quarter 
of 2013, with a 0.3% quarterly expansion, the economy grew 0.7% in Q2.  

Document Pack Page 91



 4

There have been signs of increases in household spending in the summer, with 
a pick-up in retail sales, mortgages, house prices and new car registrations.  

2.1.2 The strengthening in economic growth appears to have been reflected in the 
labour market, with employment rising at a modest pace. Pay growth also 
increased slightly in April, by 1.0%; well below the rate of inflation causing 
continuing pressure on household’s disposable income. 

2.1.3 The Bank of England extended its Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS) into 2015 
and sharpened the incentives for banks to extend more business funding, 
particularly to small and medium size enterprises. To date, the mortgage 
market still appears to have been the biggest beneficiary from the scheme, 
with mortgage interest rates falling further to new lows. Mortgage approvals by 
high street banks have risen as have house prices, although they are still well 
down from the boom years pre 2008.  

2.1.4 Turning to the fiscal situation, the public borrowing figures continued to be 
distorted by a number of one-off factors. On an underlying basis, borrowing in 
Q2 looked to be broadly in line with last year’s figures, highlighting the 
Government’s difficulty in reducing borrowing while economic growth was 
relatively lacklustre.   The 2013 Spending Review, covering only 2015/16, 
made no changes to the headline Government spending plan, and monetary 
policy was unchanged in advance of the new Bank of England Governor, Mark 
Carney, arriving.  Bank Rate remains at 0.5% and quantitative easing also 
stayed at £375bn.  In August, the MPC provided forward guidance that Bank 
Rate is unlikely to change until unemployment first falls to 7%, which was not 
expected until mid 2016. However, 7% is only a point at which the MPC would 
review Bank Rate, not necessarily take action to change it.  The three month to 
July average rate was 7.7%. 

2.1.5 CPI inflation (MPC target of 2.0%), fell marginally from a peak of 2.9% in June 
to 2.7% in September.  The Bank of England expects inflation to fall back to 
2.0% in 2015. 

2.1.6 Tensions in the Eurozone eased over the second quarter, but there remained a 
number of triggers for a renewed flare-up.  Economic survey data improved 
consistently over the first half of the year, pointing to a return to growth in Q2, 
so ending six quarters of Eurozone recession. 

2.2 Outlook for the next six months of 2013/14 

2.2.1 Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 
weighing on the UK. Volatility in bond yields is likely during 2013/14 as 
investor fears and confidence ebb and flow between favouring more risky 
assets i.e. equities, and safer bonds.   Downside risks to UK gilt yields and 
PWLB rates include: 

• A return to weak economic growth in the US, UK and China causing major 
disappointment to investor and market expectations 

• The potential for a significant increase in negative reactions of populaces in 
Eurozone countries against austerity programmes, especially in countries with 
very high unemployment rates e.g. Greece and Spain, which face huge 
challenges in engineering economic growth to correct their budget deficits on a 
sustainable basis. 

• The Italian political situation is frail and unstable: the coalition government fell 
on 29 September 

• Problems in other Eurozone heavily indebted countries (e.g. Cyprus and 
Portugal) could also generate safe haven flows into UK gilts. 

Document Pack Page 92



 5

• Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth in western 
economies, especially the Eurozone and Japan. 

• Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU and US, 
depressing economic recovery in the UK. 

• Geopolitical risks e.g. Syria, Iran, North Korea, which could trigger safe haven 
flows back into bonds. 

2.2.2 Upside risks to UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, especially for longer term PWLB 
rates include: - 

• UK inflation being significantly higher than in the wider EU and US, causing an 
increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields. 

• Increased investor confidence that sustainable robust world economic growth is  
expected, together with a reduction or end of QE operations in the US, causing 
a further flow of funds out of bonds into equities. 

• A reversal of Sterling’s safe-haven status on a sustainable improvement in 
financial stresses in the Eurozone. 

• In the longer term - a reversal of QE in the UK; this could initially be 
implemented by allowing gilts held by the Bank to mature without reinvesting 
in new purchases, followed later by outright sale of gilts currently held. 

• Further downgrading by credit rating agencies of the creditworthiness and 
credit rating of UK Government debt, consequent upon repeated failure to 
achieve fiscal correction targets and sustained recovery of economic growth, 
causing the ratio of total Government debt to GDP to rise to levels that provoke 
major concern. 

 

 2.2.3 The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is now weighted to the 
upside . However, only time will tell just how long this period of strong economic 
growth will last, and it remains exposed to vulnerabilities in a number of key areas.  
The longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, due to the high 
volume of gilt issuance in the UK, and of bond issuance in other major western 
countries.  Near-term, there is some residual risk of further QE if there is a dip in 
strong growth or if the MPC were to decide to take action to combat the market’s 
expectations of an early first increase in Bank Rate. If the MPC does takes action to 
do more QE in order to reverse the rapid increase in market rates, especially in gilt 
yields and interest rates up to 10 years, such action could cause gilt yields and 
PWLB rates over the next year or two to significantly undershoot the forecasts in 
the table below. The tension in the US over passing a federal budget for the new 
financial year starting on 1 October and raising the debt ceiling in mid October 
could also see bond yields temporarily dip until agreement is reached between the 
opposing Republican and Democrat sides. Conversely, the eventual start of 
tapering by the Fed will cause bond yields to rise. 

 

2.2.4 Capita Asset Service’s (formerly Sector) Interest Rate Forecast 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 93



 6

The Capita Assets Services forecasts above are for PWLB certainty rates. 

 

Capita Assets Services take the view that the unemployment rate is not likely 
to come down as quickly as the financial markets are currently expecting and 
that the current MPC view is more realistic.  The prospects for any increase in 
Bank Rate before 2016 are therefore seen as being limited. However, some 
forecasters are forecasting that the Bank of England is too optimistic as to 
when the 7% level will be reached and so do not expect the first increase in 
Bank Rate until spring 2017. 

 
3.0 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL 

INVESTMENT STRATEGY UP-DATE 
 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2013/14 was 
approved by the Council on 20 February 2013.  
 

There are no policy changes to the TMSS; the details in this report update the 
position in the light of the updated economic position and budgetary changes 
already approved.  

 
4.0 THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL POSITION (PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS) 
 

This part of the report is structured to update: 

• The Council’s capital expenditure plans; 

• How these plans are being financed; 

• The impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the 
prudential indicators  and the underlying need to borrow; and 

• Compliance with the limits in place for borrowing activity. 

 
4.1  Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure 
  
 This table shows the revised estimates for capital expenditure and the changes 

since the capital programme was agreed at the Budget 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Note* - Increase due to approved slippage. 
 
4.2 Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing 

Requirement, External Debt and the Operational Boundary 
 

The table shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur 
borrowing for a capital purpose.  It also shows the expected debt position over 
the period. This is termed the Operational Boundary. 
 

Capital Expenditure 2013/14 
Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2013/14 
Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

Non HRA 8,855 16,664* 

HRA 7,628 8,226 

Total 16,483 24,890 

Document Pack Page 94



 7

 
 

4.3 Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 

The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to 
ensure that over the medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less 
investments) will only be for a capital purpose.  Gross external borrowing 
should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding 
year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2013/14 and next two 
financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for 
future years.  The Council has approved a policy for borrowing in advance of 
need which will be adhered to if this proves prudent.   
 

The Assistant Director of Resources reports that no difficulties are envisaged for 
the current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator.   

A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing.  This is the 
Authorised Limit which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is 
prohibited, and needs to be set and revised by Members.  It reflects the level of 
borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is 
not sustainable in the longer term.  It is the expected maximum borrowing 
need with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the statutory 
limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.0 INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 2013/14 

5.1  In accordance with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of 
capital and liquidity, and to obtain an appropriate level of return which is 
consistent with the Council’s risk appetite.  As set out in Section 3, it is a very 
difficult investment market in terms of earning the level of interest rates 
commonly seen in previous decades. Indeed, the introduction of the Funding 
for Lending scheme has reduced market investment rates even further.  The 
potential for a prolonging of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis, and its impact 

 2013/14 
Original 
Estimate 

£m 

2013/14 
Revised 
Estimate 

£m 

Prudential Indicator - Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 

CFR – non HRA 129,764 129,514 

CFR – HRA 40,107 40,531 

Housing Reform Settlement 78,253 78,253 

Total CFR 248,124 248,298 

   

Prudential Indicator – External Debt / the Operational Boundary 

Borrowing 189,400 189,400 

Other long term liabilities 7,300 7,300 

HRA Settlement 79,300 79,300 

Total  276,000 276,000 

Authorised limit for 
external debt 

2013/14 
Original 
Indicator 

2013/14 
Revised 
Indicator 

Borrowing 293,800 293,800 

Other long term liabilities 7,400 7,400 

Total 301,200 301,200 

Document Pack Page 95



 8

on banks, prompts a low risk and short term strategy.  Given this risk 
environment, investment returns are likely to remain low.  

5.2 The Council held £48.2m of investments as at 30 September 2013 (£18.6m at 
31 March 2013) and the investment portfolio yield for the first six months of 
the year is 0.89% against Sector’s suggested investment earnings rate for 
returns on investments placed, for periods up to three months in 2013/14, of 
0.50%. 

 

Type of Investment £ million 

 
Call Investments (Cash Equivalents) 

- NatWest £34.7m 
- Bank of Scotland £3.9m 

 
Fixed Investments (Short Term) 

- Bank of Scotland £9.6m 
 

 
38.6 

 
 

 
9.6 
 

Total 48.2 

 
5.3 The Assistant Director of Resources confirms that the approved limits within the 

Annual Investment Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 
2013/14. 

 
5.4  The Council’s budgeted investment return for 2013/14 is £1m, and 

performance for the year to date is in line with the budget. 
 
5.5  The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is 

meeting the requirement of the treasury management function. 
 
6.0 BORROWING 
 
6.1 The Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR) for 2013/14 is £248.3m.  The 

CFR denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes.  If 
the CFR is positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market 
(external borrowing) or from internal balances on a temporary basis (internal 
borrowing).  The balance of external and internal borrowing is generally driven 
by market conditions. The table below shows the Council has borrowings of 
£209.7m and has utilised £38.6m of cash flow funds in lieu of borrowing. This 
is a prudent and cost effective approach in the current economic climate but 
will require ongoing monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields 
prevail. 

 
 
 
6.2 The Council repaid debt of £7.5m in 2012-13 and further debt of £3m has been repaid in the first six months of 2013
 

  30th September 2013 Forecast 31st March 2014 

  Principal Avg. Principal Avg. 

  £’000 £’000 Rate £’000 £’000 Rate 

Fixed rate 

 PWLB Bury 153,862   146,362   

 PWLB Airport 4,829   4,078   

 Market Bury 46,000 204,691  57,500 207,940  

Variable rate funding 

 PWLB Bury 0   0   

 Market Bury 0 0  0 0  

Temporary Loans 

/ Bonds 

5,003 5,003  2,003 2,003  

        

Total Debt  209,694 4.43%  209,943 4.15% 

Document Pack Page 96



 9

Lender Rate Amount Start Date End Date 

Buckinghamshire County Council 1.13% £5m 05/04/13 05/07/16 

Humberside Fire Authority 0.39% £2m 15/07/13 14/07/14 

West Midlands Police 0.68% £2m 08/08/13 24/07/16 

Total  £9m   

 
 
6.3 The graph below shows the movement in PWLB rates for the first six months of 

the year to 30.09.13: 
 

 
 
7.0 CO-OP BANK 
 
7.1 Earlier this year the Co-op Bank, the Council’s bankers, saw its credit rating 

downgraded.  Whilst advice, and our own analysis, suggested that there was no 
increased risk as a result of this it was felt prudent to ensure that any 
overnight cash balances were reduced to an absolute minimum and this 
remains the policy.  The authority holds no longer-term investments with the 
bank. 

 
7.2 The Co-op have now announced that they intend to withdraw from the local 

government banking sector in 2015.  Whilst this is disappointing, because the 
Co-op offers an ethical banking service that is in line with the Council’s ethos, 
there is no immediate impact or risk to the Council and, co-incidentally, this 
date coincides with the end of our current contract with the Bank. 

 
7.3 The authority will now begin to work with the Bank and with colleagues from 

other authorities that use the Co-op to look carefully at options for the way 
forward.  Of course when a major player withdraws from the market then there 
is the danger that the reduced level of competition can lead to increased costs 
and so we will be looking at all procurement options including the pros and 
cons of tendering jointly with other councils. 

  
 
 

Document Pack Page 97



 10 

 
 
8.0 DEBT RESCHEDULING 
 
8.1 Debt rescheduling opportunities have been limited in the current economic 

climate and consequent structure of interest rates. No debt rescheduling was 
undertaken during the first six months of 2013/14. 

 
 
Councillor John Smith      
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Affairs 
 
List of Background Papers:- None 
 
Contact Details:- Stephen Kenyon, Assistant Director of Resources, Tel 0161 253 
5237; E-mail s.kenyon@bury.gov.uk 

Document Pack Page 98



1 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

One Council. 

One Plan. 
 

Quarter Two 2013-14:  

Progress Report 

A
genda Item

 7
D

ocum
ent P

ack P
age 99



2 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This report outlines progress during quarter two of 2013-14 for the corporate performance indicators and projects within the 
Bury Council Corporate Plan. The information provided is extracted from the Performance Information Management System 
(PIMS) and the responsible services. 
 

1.2 There are currently 53 performance indicators from PIMS and 25 projects within the Corporate Plan. This report provides a 

summary of the overall performance of all indicators and projects.  

 

1.3 Where data are unavailable for Quarter 2 2013-14, the report provides the latest inputted data from previous quarters.  

 

1.4 Throughout this report the definitions of the colour-coding are: 

• Green – On target and/or better than 2012-13 performance 
• Amber – Within 15% of achieving target or within 15% of 2012-13 performance 
• Red – Below target or worse than we achieved in 2012-13.  
• No Traffic Light – Information not available due to various reasons. 

 
1.5      The detail of this corporate performance report can be viewed or downloaded on the corporate performance information 

monitoring system (PIMS). If you require copies of the reports or need training on the operation of the monitoring system; 

please contact Benjamin Imafidon on Ext 6592. 

  
 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 100



3 

 

SUMMARY 

2.1 Overall the council currently reports performance against a total of 53 corporate performance indicators. For quarter 2, 
outcomes for 41 of these indicators were collected as some indicators are reported annually. The chart below shows the 
percentage of these performance indicators that are categorised as Red, Amber and Green using the criteria set out in 
paragraph 1.4.  

 

Red, 5

Amber, 10

Green, 23

No Traffic 

Light; Data 

not 

available, 3

Green Amber Red No Traffic Light; Data not available

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 101



4 

 

 

Reducing Poverty and Its Effects 

Current Performance 

 
Performance Indicators 
 
Measure Higher/ 

lower is 
better 

2012/13 
Baseline 

2013/14 
Q2  

Target Commentary 

Overall employment rate for Bury 
(working age) 

Higher 75.2% 
 

76.4% 
(Green) 

70% 
 

Employment rate in Bury is currently 76.4% 
and 67.5% in Greater Manchester with a 
difference of 8.9%. Higher % difference 
between Greater Manchester and Bury = 
better performance. 

Working age people on out of 
work benefits (percentage 
difference between Bury and 
Greater Manchester) 
 

Higher 2% 
 

1.8% 
(Green) 

1.6% The gap has reduced from 2% but is still 
above target. More work using available 
funding sources and partnership work is 
underway to maintain the target gap of at 
least 1.6%. 

Percentage of working age 
people claiming out of work 
benefits in the worst performing 
neighbourhoods 

Lower Not 
available 

Not 
available 

32% Unable to obtain data at lower super output 
area level. 

Proportion of population aged 19-
64 for males and 19-59 for 
females qualified to at least Level 
2 or higher. 

Higher Not 
available 

Not 
available 

70% Unable to provide data, statistics do not get 
recorded by Skills Funding Agency and not 
readily available. This is to be reviewed. 

Proportion of children in poverty 
 

Lower 18.31 Not 
available 

21.09 This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. The Q4 outcome is from 
2010. 

Achievement gap between pupils 
eligible for free school meals and 
their peers achieving the 
expected level at Key Stage 2 

Lower 16% 
 

18.2% 
(Amber) 

15% This gap has increased by 0.6% from last 
year but these results are still provisional and 
subject to change. National results for 
comparisons will be available in Q3. New 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 102



5 

 

more challenging assessments have also been 
introduced. 

Inequality gap in the 
achievement of a Level 3 
qualification by the age of 19 

Lower 18% 
 

Not 
available 

28% 
 

This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. 

Achievement gap between pupils 
eligible for free school meals and 
their peers achieving the 
expected level at Key Stage 4 

Lower 23.2% 
 

Not 
available 

22% Results will be available by Q3. 

Percentage of 16-18 year olds by 
academic age who are not in 
education, employment or 
training (NEET) 

Lower 5.5% 
 

6.1% 
(Green) 

6.4% This figure is from quarter 1. Quarter 2 
national data has not yet become available 
from the Department for Education. 

 

Project Updates 

Poverty Strategy 
During quarter 2 a sub group has been established to determine what performance information will help us to understand the 
prevalence and direction of travel of poverty in Bury and to coordinate the work required to refresh the poverty strategy for 2014/15. 
Activity this quarter that has contributed towards the outcomes of the strategy includes; partnership work with the National Careers 
Service to provide additional support to 50 customers, draft policy for awarding Discretionary Housing Payments, production of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy and 1,522 learners taking part in courses that supported employability through Bury’s Adult Learning 
Centre. A team has been established to contact all customers affected by the Under-Occupancy charge with the aim of investigating 
appropriate solutions. This is a joint initiative between Bury Council and Six Town Housing Next quarter will see the launch of our 
credit union and further work to better understand food poverty in Bury through collating local statistics and information. 
 
Homelessness Strategy 
The refresh of the Homelessness Strategy is progressing well.  Consultation on the draft documents is expected later this year.  The 

draft Housing Strategy 2013/23 has received Cabinet approval to go out to consultation.  Once finalised (schedule for early 2014) this 

document will be a key influence over all other housing strategies in the borough.  The Housing Education and New Opportunities 

(HEN) Project commenced in February. The successes of the project from February ‘13 of the 52 customers that have been through 

the project are : 

• 10 have gained employment  

• 16 have completed voluntary work 

• 4 have enrolled into college 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 103



6 

 

• 20 have been for interviews 

• 3 have undertaken further training 

• 52% have undergone health screening. 

 
We are one of the first Greater Manchester Authorities to be discharging our homeless duty into private sector accommodation. 
 
A new provider has begun working with rough sleepers focusing on a street rescue model so that no rough sleeper experiences a 
second night on the streets. The new service will be launched in November 2013. 
 
Affordable Warmth 
The action plan is currently under review awaiting the development of the UK Fuel Poverty Strategy which is due to be published later 
this year.  However there is continued delivery of the strategy's key aims with internal and external partners including: 
 
Bury Healthy Homes Scheme 2012/13 
4 training sessions have been booked for November on energy related topics for frontline staff, to equip them with recognising fuel 
poverty with vulnerable Bury residents who may need assistance keeping warm and well this winter.  Unfortunately it has been 
announced by the Department of Health that there will not be any funding provided via this route going forward. 
 
Collective GM Energy Switching Scheme  
An evaluation of the scheme has been undertaken and will be shortly considered by GMCA Wider Leadership Team. If a third auction 
is to be held this will be in 2014 and is likely to take a different approach to the first 2 auctions. 
 
GM ECO Toasty Scheme 2013/14 
Bury is working with Carillion, one of the AGMA partners procured for delivering this scheme in 2013/14. The scheme has now been 
promoted in 4 priority target areas; Bury East, Moorside, Radcliffe East and West and Redvales. To the end of August there have 
been 67 referrals, 31 assessments and 3 boiler replacements installed by Carillion.  Whilst these figures look low we are ranked first 
across GM for the number of referrals made in the context of the percentage number of total households in the borough, second for 
enquiries and fourth for number of installs. It is recognised that more promotional activity is required to increase the number of 
installs.  Therefore Bury Light Night promotion is planned in October alongside a Ramsbottom full day blitz campaign.  Carillion have 
procured the services of Groundwork to assist with these events and other general community promotional activity.  
  
In general Urban Renewal continues to work closely with the GM Energy Advice Service by way of attendance at meetings and their 
involvement in the above schemes. 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 104



7 

 

Backing Young Bury 
The Connecting Provision Activity is an innovative model using all locally funded provision and shaping it into one offer for young 
people who are the furthest from securing employment.  This model works with those young people who have the greatest barriers in 
order to gain the biggest impact in the community as well as the biggest savings in the future. It includes, Troubled Families, 
Sportivate, ESF Complex Families, Adult Learning Provision, Work Programme Providers and Jobcentre Plus.  By working with priority 
groups Bury Council is able to draw down Youth Contract and GM Commitment Grants to recycle into further activity. 
 
The second cohort has now completed their Traineeship/7 weeks work experience.  9 young people have been offered a 6 month 
temporary contract with Bury Council out of the 12 that started this programme.  
 
The next cohort will commence in January 2013. The next cohort will be fully aligned to Bury Council’s SCIL – Supporting 
Communities – Improving Lives criteria. 
 
The model will be replicated externally and align to free childcare provision for two year olds. Bury Council will work with registered 
Childcare providers to offer supported traineeships for unemployed residents with an interest in this work area.    
 
Council Tax Support Scheme 
The new Council Tax Support scheme was introduced in Bury on 1st April 2013. The funding the council receives from the 
Government has been reduced by 10%. Whilst councils were free to design their own schemes the Government regulated that 
pensioners could not be worse off after 1st April.  
 
The main feature of Bury’s scheme is a restriction on the maximum amount of support a household can receive to the Council Tax 
amount charged for a Band B property. This measure affected 800 residents. Early indications are that collection rates for residents 
affected by the new scheme are similar to other charge payers. 
 
It is worth noting that the Council Support caseload is changing all the time, with households coming off benefits and others making 
new claims. Therefore reductions in support may only be experienced for a short time. 
 
Local Social Fund Replacement (Bury Support Fund) 
3 months in and the Bury Support Fund now has a clearer understanding of what customers are requesting and what are the general 
issues for our customers.  We are still continuing to re-educate past ‘Social Fund’ applicants who have had an expectation that the 
fund is still accessible for the same purposes.   
 
The Support Fund has settled in well and are receiving positive comments from the organisations assisting customers with claims, 
particularly around the simplicity of claiming and the speed with which claims are processed. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 105



8 

 

We are continuing to look at the scheme to see if we can offer additional support to people either by adding to what we already do or 
starting new strands of support. 
 
At a recent meeting with other GM authorities it is clear that we are not the only team finding that requests for support because of 
DWP sanctions are on the increase, this is something we are monitoring closely.  
 

The CAB Support Fund Adviser has been receiving referrals for assistance.  All staff members have been asked to always consider 
offering this service to customers who are struggling financially. 
 

Supporting our most vulnerable residents 

Current Performance 

 
Performance Indicators 
 
Measure Higher/ 

lower is 
better 

2012/13 
Baseline 

2013/14 
Q2  

Target Commentary 

Percentage achieving 
independence: older people 
through rehabilitation/ 
intermediate care 

Higher 93.5% 
 

82.1% 
(Green) 

80% Due to preventative services, less people 
were admitted to rehabilitation/ 
intermediate care. 

Adults with learning disabilities in 
settled accommodation 
 

Higher 85.7% 
 

85.9% 
(Green) 

80% Overachieving on this target. 

Adults with learning disabilities in 
employment 

Higher 40% 
 

38% 
(Green) 

35% Whilst we are ahead of target at quarter 2, 
the jobs market can fluctuate throughout 
the year. 

Number of households living in 
temporary accommodation 

Lower 12 
 

8 
(Green) 

10 The numbers in temporary accommodation 
has not been below 10 since October 2012. 
The numbers in temporary accommodation 
has been decreasing since April 2013. 

Percentage of social care 
assessments completed within 28 
days 

Higher 83.6% 
 

91.8% 
(Green) 

78% Overachieving on this target. 

Percentage of social care Higher 77.5% 84.6% 60% Overachieving on this target. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 106



9 

 

packages in place 28 days after 
assessment 

 (Green) 

Social Care clients receiving Self 
Directed Support (Direct 
payments and individual 
budgets) 

Higher 30.7% 
 

58.1% 
(Green) 

55% Overachieving on this target. 

Carers receiving needs 
assessment or review and a 
specific carer’s service, or advice 
and information 

Higher 16.6% 
 

10.5% 
(Red) 

25% Under target at quarter 2. This has been 
raised with team managers and plans are in 
place to increase this outcome in the third 
quarter. 

The percentage of children and 
young people in care adopted 
during the year who were placed 
for adoption within 12 months of 
the decision that they should be 
placed for adoption, and who 
remained in that placement on 
adoption. 

Higher 77.3%  
 

80% 
(Green) 

80% 
 

Extra Protocol monitoring showed that in 
quarter 2, two children were adopted, both 
of whom were placed within 12 months of 
the decision. Year to date: 4 out of 5 
(80%). 

Percentage of children becoming 
the subject of Child Protection 
Plan for a second or subsequent 
time 

Lower 12.3% 
 

25.6% 
(Red) 

17% 
 

Of the 90 Bury plans that commenced 
between July and September inclusive, 23 
(25.6%) are repeats. Year to Date: 160 
new plans, of which 41 (25.6%) were 
repeats. The monthly average of new plans 
(27) remains higher than previous years 
(2012-2013 had a monthly average of 16).  
Unfortunately, the number of repeat plans 
in 2013-2014 to date has also increased 
and to a greater degree (partly because 
both Q1 and Q2 saw large families subject 
to repeat plans).  As a result, our current 
YTD figure falls in the "Investigate 
urgently" PAF A3 band (24% or above). 

The percentage of children and 
young people in care achieving 5 
A*-C GCSEs (or equivalent) at 

Higher 13.6% 
 

19.2% 
(Green) 
 

N/A 
 

Of the qualifying 26 children, 5 (19.2%) 
achieved 5 A*-C GCSEs including English 
and Maths. The cohort had a high SEN 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 107



10 

 

key stage 4 (including English & 
Maths) 

characteristic : 26% with Statements and a 
total of 57% on the SEN Code of Practice, 
receiving additional support and resources. 

Percentage gap between pupils 
with Special Educational Needs 
and their peers achieving 5 A*-C 
GCSEs including English and 
Maths 

Lower 49.2% 
 

Not 
available 

44% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 3. 

Key Stage 2 attainment for Black 
and minority ethnic groups: 
Pakistani Heritage 

Lower 4.7% 
 

4.3% 
(Green) 

3% The gap for level 4+ reading, writing and 
maths has decreased from 6% to 4.3% 
showing improvement. 

Key Stage 2 attainment for Black 
and minority ethnic groups: 
Mixed White and Black Caribbean 

Lower -10.9% 
 

8.7% 
(Red) 

5% These results are provisional. Due to more 
challenging assessments the gap has 
increased. National comparisons will be 
available in Q3. Care has to be taken when 
looking at these figures because of the 
small cohort size of 29 pupils out of 2,061 
for year 6. 

Key Stage 2 attainment for Black 
and minority ethnic groups: 
White Other 

Lower 9.4% 
 

13.9% 
(Red) 

9% Due to more challenging assessments this 
gap has increased by 4.5%. The aim is to 
reach the 2012 outcome again. National 
data for comparison will be available in Q3. 

Percentage of pupils permanently 
excluded from school in the year 

Lower 0.17% 
 

0.11% 
(Green) 

0.22% Schools have continued to work hard over 
the last academic year to reduce the 
number of permanent exclusions. This has 
improved again from the previous academic 
year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 108



11 

 

Project Updates 

Supporting Communities, Improving Lives 
Following a review of progress and subsequent conversations with the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
team who are funding the programme, work continues to refresh the data, strengthen the governance framework and accelerate 
work with families that meet the criteria.  The national team has expressed satisfaction with progress to date. The service is now 
working directly with families and we are seeing positive outcomes which will be reported in October to DCLG. 
 
Extra Care Housing 
Two bids were submitted to the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) for the Care & Support Specialised Housing Fund.  The results 
of these bids were announced in July 2013.  The bid by St Vincent's Housing Association to develop a scheme on Danesmoor Road 
has been successful; a significant achievement considering the large number of bids in the region.  Unfortunately, the Six Town 
Housing bid to develop a larger scheme, similar to Red Bank in Radcliffe was unsuccessful at this stage.  Officers from the Council and 
Six Town Housing will continue to work together to ensure this scheme is well placed to pick any 'slippage' funding from the HCA and 
to explore alternative ways of financing this much-needed scheme.  
 
Red Bank in Radcliffe continues to operate successfully.  Falcon and Griffin flats remain popular after the improvement work carried 
out there. 
 
Housing Allocation Policy 
The new allocations policy has been implemented and in operation since the beginning of May 2013. The numbers on the waiting list 
have reduced to 2672 and we are now able to meet housing needs more effectively by direct letting properties. 
 
Day Opportunities 
Progress continues to be made in respect of the Clarence Park development.  Due to some issues with land gradients the final 
building plan has been revised, however work is still on track to be undertaken during quarters 3 & 4.  A café provider event has also 
been held this quarter to give potentially interested parties the opportunity to visit the site and find out more about the vision for the 
community café facility, and we are now in the process of developing the formal tender documentation for the café element of the 
new service.  
 
Great Places have now started work to demolish the existing Hazelhurst and Whittle Pike buildings in Ramsbottom in preparation for 
the new development that is proposed for the site.  Great Places have indicated that the new day service facility will be available for 
Day Services to use from December 2014.  The interim Day Service base located at Ramsbottom Leisure Centre has been very 
successful, particularly in respect of customer's health and use of the facilities on site - we now have customers from this new group 
accessing the swimming pool every day of the week, which has significantly improved a number of individuals' health and fitness 
levels. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 109



12 

 

Unfortunately, the phase 2 Library proposals to co locate Day Services and Library Services in the south of Bury were not agreed to 
proceed, therefore work is continuing in the south of the borough to identify alternative core base facilities in the Radcliffe, Whitefield 
and Prestwich areas to enable the continuation of day service modernisation and offer services more locally to where people with 
more complex needs live in these areas.  Discussions have already taken place in respect of a potential opportunity for a new core 
base facility in Radcliffe. 
 
The proposal to relocate the existing Seedfield Day Centre and review the service offer has also been taken forward during Q2.  It has 
now been confirmed that the new service will be located in Castle Leisure Centre and the minor works required to adapt the space to 
more appropriately meet the needs of Day Service customers is due to take place during Q3, with a view to the existing customer 
group moving across to this new venue from January 2014. 
 
Early Intervention Strategy (now Early Help Strategy) 
The Working Together to Safeguard Children - (a guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of children) 
refers to the importance of local authorities providing targeted early help services to address the assessed needs of a child and their 
family which focuses on activity to significantly improve the outcomes for the child. Following a restructure of an existing team earlier 
this year a new Early Help Team has been recruited, to start work late October 2013. 
 
A multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) has been established, and will be based within the police station. It will have a key role as 
the 'front-door' providing effective and efficient triage for referrers. In many cases the work may then be directed to the Early Help 
Panel. The multi-agency Early Help panel has now been established and will be the forum for discussing and agreeing outline Early 
Help Plans. 
 
New Horizons Programme 
The New Horizons programme at Bury College took its first cohort of learners with complex needs in September 2011. These young 
people on leaving a specialist school at 19 would previously have gone outside of the borough to take up an educational place at a 
specialist college. The pilot was for five young people with learning difficulties and disabilities and they completed their programme of 
learning in July 2013 with many positive outcomes.  
 
Learners improved their communication and independent living skills, their numeracy and literacy skills as well as increasing their 
confidence levels through the programme. Without exception, positive feedback was given by all parents and carers of learners on 
the programme.   
 
The New Horizons programme is also linked to other service providers in the borough to provide continued support to learners, 
including local leisure and transport facilities.    
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 110



13 

 

Making Bury a better place to live 

Current Performance 

 
Performance Indicators 
 
Measure Higher/ 

lower is 
better 

2012/13 
Baseline 

2013/14 
Q2  

Target Commentary 

Visits in person to 
Galleries/Museum per 1,000 
population   

Higher 235.01 
 

121.58 
(Green) 

241 In the second quarter there were 10,207 
visitors, giving a figure of 121.58 per 
thousand population. This is a cumulative 
indicator and currently based on mid 2011 
population figures. The figure per thousand 
population at this stage last year was 
103.58, so has improved since this point 
last year. 

Percentage of household waste 
sent for re use, recycling and 
composting 

Higher 44.85% 
 

46% 
(Green) 

44% This figure is estimated. Performance for 
Q2 2012/13 was 46.59%, showing a very 
small variance. It is apparent that recycling 
performance has reached a plateau in the 
absence of new initiatives. 

Residual household waste - kgs 
per household 

Lower 450.5kg 
 
  

237.12kg 
(Amber) 

445kg This figure is estimated. Performance for 
Q2 2012/13 was 230.32kg, this small 
variance is difficult to account for. 

The percentage of urban and 
countryside parks, based on the 
ISPAL definition, that have 
achieved "green flag" status 

Higher 85.71% 
 

Not 
available 

85.71% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. All parks have been 
mystery shopped. 

Percentage of adults participating 
in at least 30 minutes moderate 
intensity sport and active 
recreation on three or more days a 
week 

Higher 23.6% 
 

23.6% 
(Amber) 

25.5% Annual data reported in Q3 APS7 (Active 
People Survey) mid to late October 13. 

Number of serious violent crimes 
per 1,000 population 

Lower 0.52 
 

0.21 
(Green) 

0.88 
 

This is a cumulative indicator. 21 incidents 
of serious violent crime were reported 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 111



14 

 

during July – September which equates to 
0.11 per 1,000 population. 40 incidents 
have been reported from April – September 
this year which equates to 0.21 per 1,000 
population. 

Number of serious acquisitive 
crimes per 1,000 population 

Lower 11.43 
 

5.15 
(Green) 

12.95 
 

This is a cumulative indicator. 486 incidents 
were recorded during July – September 
which equates to 2.62 per 1,000 
population. 955 incidents have been 
reported from April – September this year 
which equates to 5.15 per 1,000 
population. 

Assault with injury crime rate per 
1,000 of the population 

Lower 5.78 
 

3.28 
(Amber) 

6.25 
 

This is a cumulative indicator. 203 incidents 
were reported during July – September 
which equates to 1.09 per 1000 population. 
419 incidents have been reported for the 
period April – September this year which 
equates to 3.28 per 1,000 population. 

Reduction in the number of 
incidents of anti-social behaviour 
as measured by the National 
Codes for Incidences (NICL) 

Lower 44.52 
 

25.96 
(Amber) 

46.2 
 

This is a cumulative indicator. 2566 
incidents were reported during July – 
September which equates to 13.86 per 
1,000 population. 4,807 incidents have 
been reported from April – September 
which equates to 25.96 per 1,000 
population. 

Percentage rate of repeat incidents 
of domestic violence 

Lower 29.26% 
 

28.57% 
(Green) 

40% 
 

14 repeat incidents of domestic violence 
were reported during July – September. 28 
repeat incidents have been reported April – 
September this year. The full year target is 
set at 26 – 40% for an established MARAC. 

Number of first-time entrants 
(FTEs) to the Youth Justice system 
aged 10-17 (Rate per 100,000) 

Lower 637 
 

Not 
available 

536.95 This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. The target set 
reflects the England average. 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6 to 
8 weeks 

Higher 40.95% 37.6% 
(Amber) 

42.8% This figure is from quarter 1. There has 
been a delay getting the Q2 data to Public 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 112



15 

 

Health and CCG from Pennine Care as they 
are undertaking a data quality audit of all 
their returns and requests. Q2 data should 
become available in November 2013. 

Rate of alcohol-related hospital 
admissions per 100,000 
population (DSR) 

Lower 2067 Not 
available 

1879 Data currently unavailable to Public Health 
Team due to development of new data 
warehouse at Greater Manchester 
Commissioning Support Unit (GMCSU). 

Percentage of the local authority 
principal road networks (‘A’ roads) 
where structural maintenance 
should be considered 

Lower 3% 
 

Not 
available 

10% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. 

Percentage of the local authority 
non principal classified road 
networks (‘B’ and ‘C’ roads) where 
structural maintenance should be 
considered 

Lower 3% 
 

Not 
available 

10% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. 

Increased number of tourist 
visitors (STEAM) 

Higher 5,404,130 
 
 

Not 
available 

5,315,516 This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 3. 

Supply of ready to develop 
housing sites 

Higher 100% 
 

Not 
available 

100% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end.  

CO2 reduction from local authority 
operations 

Higher 9%  9% 
(Amber) 

16% Results for 2012/13 showed a 9% reduction 
in emissions against a target of 13%. The 
dull wet summer and long prolonged winter 
increased our energy use and restricted our 
carbon reduction process. 

Visits in person to libraries per 
thousand population 

Higher 5,384 
 

Not 
available 

5,300 This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 113



16 

 

Project Updates 

Health Reform 
The Health and Wellbeing Strategy has now been approved.  The strategy sets out Bury's vision for improving Health & Well-Being 
in the Borough.  It makes four underpinning principles and identifies five cross-cutting priorities to help achieve this.  
 
Bury Council and Bury CCG have an equal and joint duty to prepare a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, through the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. The JSNA is a strategic assessment of current and future health and social care needs of the local community to 
inform planning and evidence-based commissioning priorities principally of the local authority, CCG and NHS England in order to 
improve the public’s health and reduce inequalities.  Following a procurement exercise, Linxs were commissioned to undertake the 
JSNA refresh. 
The refreshed document is intended to review more up-to-date datasets to:  

• Provide analyses of data to show the health and wellbeing status of local communities. 
• Define where inequalities exist. 
• Highlight key findings based on the information and evidence collected.  
• Identify changes that have occurred and what these changes mean for Bury. 
• Identify areas for further analysis and exploration   

 
The refreshed JSNA was ratified by the Board for onward consultation. 
 
Bury's Integrated Care Plan will be considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board on the 14th November 2013.  The plan outlines 
how the Council and the CCG aim to design, develop and implement a new model of integrated care for the people of Bury. 
 
The Shadow Healthwatch Board has now been formed and meets fortnightly, the first meeting ‘in public’ will be in November 2013. 
Healthwatch Bury will be a social enterprise and will take the model of a community interest company and expects to be fully 
incorporated by February 2013. Currently advertising for an Operations Manager. 
 
Increase recycling, reuse and composting 
Food waste recycling from school kitchens and Council buildings continues to be rolled out, as do on-street recycling bins.  Recycling 
performance is largely stabilised at the moment, in the absence of significant new initiatives. Garden waste tonnages began to fall in 
September. Quarter 2 has seen an increase in the number of school kitchens recycling their food and dry waste by 9, bringing the 
total to 57. Recycling in schools itself has also increased and we now have 43 schools recycling food waste to various degrees 
(outside of the kitchen) and 50 recycling dry waste. 
 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 114



17 

 

New health and social care partnership with Bury Football Club 
This quarter saw a number of new initiatives be introduced successfully and a proportion of existing projects strengthen their 

delivery. Ability Counts (disabled football) is continuing to be sustained, achieving 12 attendees on average per session. The Nifty 

Fifty programme has achieved sustainability and is still running smoothly 6 months after funding ceased. Memory Lane (dementia) is 

averaging 10 participants per session with painting, model making and quizzes now incorporated into this programme. Buggy Baby 

Boot Camp has three new sessions incorporated under its delivery plan, with these being funded by the Bury Council and Sport 

England initiative ‘I Will If You Will ‘. Bury FC Tea Dances are now established with 35 over 50’s attending every month on average. 

Drop a Shirt Size is underway with 11 men signed up to the programme. The Afterschool & Breakfast Programme is still steady at 6 

schools, providing a of variety activities including football. Summer Holiday Provision was a huge success with 6 weeks of football and 

3 weeks of multi sports delivered over the six week summer holidays to an average of 100 children every day. 

Empty properties 
- Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) funding for empty properties 
Together with our partners; Six Town Housing and St Vincent’s Housing Association, as part of Rounds 1 and 2 HCA funding, 27 
residential properties will be brought back into use for affordable rent. In addition, 1 commercial premise will be converted to 10 
residential units for affordable rent. 
  

- Radcliffe Empty Property Pilot 
5 Business cases have now been completed and are awaiting sign off. The next stage involves negotiation with property owners. 
Urban Renewal are planning their second year of the scheme. The Local Economic Benefit report has now been produced which sets 
out how local supply chains and employment/training opportunities are being developed/managed as part of this project. 
  

- Empty property grants 
The first of the 6 grants in Radcliffe has been successfully completed.  Surveys on the other 5 have been carried out and are 
progressing through the grants process. 
 
Registry Office Annual Performance Report 
The annual performance report was completed for 2012/13 and demonstrated good performance (95% and above) for registering 
births and deaths within the timescales set. Bury Registry Office received 100% customer satisfaction through their survey 
responses. Key performance indicators for quarter 2 show that this good performance has continued into 2013/14 as most outcomes 
reflect or exceed national and regional performance. 
 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 115



18 

 

Investment in LED (light emitting diode) lighting 
A total of 593 have already been installed and a total of 1081 designed. Additional new units are scheduled to be delivered at a rate 
of 200 per fortnight commencing 17/10/13 up to Christmas 2013 (1000 total). The first trial of column extensions has been carried 
out on Haig Road, Bury with 3 columns being converted from 5m to 6m. 
 
Streetsafe Strategy 
Following the formal publication of Notices, approval has been given to implement the first eleven 20mph schemes. Work has 
commenced on the first six sites (one in each of the Borough's six townships) which include three "20mph zones" and three "20mph 
speed limit schemes". A total of 16 schemes have now successfully passed through the informal consultation stage. 
 
The Road Safety Team in partnership with Greater Manchester Police have launched a "Safer Schools Parking Banner Scheme" which 
specifically targets inappropriate parking activity outside schools at opening/closing times and highlights the dangers of parking on 
zigzag "School Keep Clear" markings. Initially 36 out of the Borough's 64 primary schools have signed up to take part in this initiative 
and banners have been delivered to the first nine schools for installation. 
 
Further details on all "StreetSafe" projects have been published on the Council’s StreetSafe website at www.bury.gov.uk/streetsafe 
 
Remodelling of the library service 
At the July 10th 2013 Cabinet meeting the phase 2 proposals regarding the remodelling of the Library Service were discussed and a 
way forward was agreed.  Community hubs are still important both for the Library Service and the Council, but they will now be 
progressed more widely during the roll-out of the corporate Asset Management Strategy.  To achieve the required £570,000 savings 
in 2014/2015, the Library Service will restructure, with a reduction in the staffing establishment and in sundry budgets. RFID (Radio 
Frequency Identification), a system whereby customers can self serve for the loaning of resources and paying fines, is currently being 
installed for phase 1 (Bury Library), whilst for phase 2 (7 further libraries) RFID is being formally discussed with staff. 
 
Developing visitor attractions and economic development opportunities 
1) Plans to develop a railway halt at Burrs Country Park have taken a step forward as work to divert an existing footpath has 
commenced. The diversion is an essential part of a wider project which would see a direct link established between the attractions at 
Burrs, The East Lancashire Railway, Bury town centre and the Irwell Valley and result in an enhanced visitor offer.  The changes to 
the footpath will also allow an extension to the existing Burrs Caravan Club site which will add 20 additional pitches.  Detailed plans 
for the Halts design are currently being drawn up. Funding sources to be identified. 
  
2) Visit Bury website.  Work is underway on a visitor website for the borough. This will increase Bury's online presence and support 
the area's visitor economy. 
  

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 116



19 

 

3) Phase 2 of the Radcliffe Tower Heritage project is underway. More information about the project can be found at 
www.radcliffeheritage.co.uk/ 
 
Adoption of the Local Plan Core Strategy 
Consultation on the Publication Core Strategy took place from 2nd August to 13th September 2013. The Council intend to submit the 
Core Strategy to the Secretary of State in December 2013, together with the supporting evidence base and representations received. 
The examination is scheduled for March 2014 and adoption in September 2014, subject to the outcome of the Examination. 
 

One Council, One Success, Together 

Current Performance 

Finance Summary 
 

Department Budget Forecast Variance 
 £000 £000 £000 

Adult Care Services 53,047 53,188 +141 
Chief Executives 4,438 5,071 +633 
Children’s Services 32,189 32,777 +588 
Communities & Neighbourhoods 36,315 36,476 +161 
Non-Service Specific 22,618 21,791 -827 

TOTAL 148,607 149,303 +696 

 
The quarter 2 forecasted over spend of £0.696m represents approximately 0.47% of the total net budget of £148.607m. 
 
Performance Indicators 
 
Measure Higher/ 

lower is 
better 

2012/13 
Baseline 

2013/14
Q2 

Target Commentary 

Percentage Council Tax collected Higher 97.33% 
 

56.26% 
(Green) 

96.5% Slightly down on last year’s percentage but this 
is to be expected with the changes to Council 
Tax Support meaning a significant amount 
more money is to be collected. Cash collected 
is up on last year. 

Percentage of business rates 
collected 

Higher 93.93% 
 

58.40% 
(Amber) 

96% 
 

Collection during quarter 2 has been steady 
and is just under target. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 117



20 

 

 
Average time taken in calendar 
days to process Housing 
Benefit/Council Tax new claims 
and change events 

Lower 23.67 
 

22.97 
(Green) 

26 
 

Performance has remained very good for 
quarter 2. 

Forecast outturn (Revenue) 
(council –wide) (£million) 

Lower -£0.093 
 

+£0.696 
(Amber) 

£0 Forecasted overspend of £0.696m. 

Forecast outturn (Capital) (council 
–wide) (£million) 

Lower £0 
 

-£0.20 
(Green) 

£0 Forecasted underspend of £0.020m. 

Governance issues reported 
(council – wide) 

Lower 0 
 

0 
(Green) 

0 No governance issues have been reported. 

Number of FTE days lost due to 
sickness absence    

Lower 9.42 
 

9.51 
(Amber) 

9.2 The actual figure has increased since last 
quarter and also in comparison to quarter 2 
last year. We aim to reduce this outcome to be 
within target. 

Percentage of employees satisfied 
with Bury Council as an employer 

Higher Not 
available 

Not 
available 

75% There has been no full survey this year to 
measure this. Although we have run 6 
engagers surveys this specific question is only 
asked on the three yearly survey. 

Percentage staff turnover (council 
– wide) 

Lower 2.80% 
 

6.10% 
(Red) 

No 
target 

This has increased since Q1 when it was 2.06. 
Last year in the same quarter it was 5.15. 

 

Project Updates 

Plan for Change 
Initial work is underway to identify £2.2 million additional savings on top of the £7.4 million already identified in 14/15. 
Documentation is currently being prepared for consultation in quarter three, reflecting the priorities identified by residents in the 
Choices Consultation in 2011. 
 
Accommodation Review 
Athenaeum House and Castle Buildings have now been vacated and staff successfully relocated to 3 Knowsley Place and the Town 
Hall respectively. A post project review is currently being undertaken, to learn lessons from the recent moves, and this is being 
combined with use audits to determine the scope for the further rationalisation of accommodation. 
 
People Strategy 

• The new structure for the HR and OD Team has been in place since July 2013 (incorporating Departmental HR for Chief 
Executive’s Department, Employee Relations, Emergency Planning, Business Support, Management Support, Health and Safety, 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 118



21 

 

Learning and Development, HR Information Systems, Policy Development, Equality and Diversity, Recruitment and Contracts 
and Workforce Planning) 

• The Public Health Team has transferred to the council and HR issues have been supported 
• The car allowance and car parking review has taken place and will be fully implemented on 1st October 2013 
• Our Bury Behaviours have been approved and supported by SLT and Cabinet.  They have now been launched and are currently 
being rolled out across departments.  We are also piloting a new style Employee Review in some areas 

• We continue to promote the importance of health and safety through our promotions 
• We have started our project to look at Digital Inclusion 
• We have taken on 3 graduates as part of Backing Young Bury in addition to our apprentices 
• We are working closely with Children's Services to continue to deliver their Management Development Programme 
• We have reviewed our Redeployment Policy and Smoking Policy and have launched a new Mobile Data Policy 
• We have produced a leaflet and a flowchart for our Managing Attendance Policy to make it more user friendly 
• We are delivering the Plan for Change support package. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 119



22 

 

Risk 
Risk management is a systematic approach to assessing risks and opportunities surrounding achievement of core strategic, departmental and operational 

objectives.  The council has a well established approach to risk management which assesses the likelihood and potential impact of a wide range of risks & 

opportunities.  Risk Registers are compiled for all activities and projects, and are subject to review on a quarterly basis. Risk Registers are reported to all levels of 

management, and to elected members. 

The following risks / opportunities have been identified that the council faces in meeting its own priorities and in contributing towards the council’s corporate 

priorities and community ambitions:  

 

Ref Risk Event Risk Owner 
Impact 

(New) 

L
ik

e
li
h

o
o
d
 

(
N

e
w

)
 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r
 1

 

S
ta

tu
s
 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r
 2

 

S
ta

tu
s
 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r
 3

 

S
ta

tu
s
 

Q
u

a
rt

e
r
 4

 

S
ta

tu
s
 

Measures 

1 

The potential liability facing the 

Council in respect of Equal Pay 

significantly weakens the 

Council's financial position 

Mike Owen / 

Guy Berry 
2 1 2 2   

Risk substantially addressed as most 

cases have now been settled. To 

remain on register till exercise 

complete. 

2 

There is no robust financial 

strategy or change management 

strategy to address effectively 

the significant funding reductions 

that the Council faces over the 

next 3 years and beyond in order 

to ensure there is a sustainable 

and balanced budget 

Steve 

Kenyon 
4 2 6 8   

Impact score raised from 3 to 4 in 

light of funding announcements of 

Summer 2013. 

 

Risk mitigated as balanced budget is 

in place for 2013/14, and significant 

savings options have been identified 

for 2014/15. 

 

3 The budget strategy fails to 

address the Council's priorities 

Mike 

Owen/Steve 

4 2 6 8   Impact score raised from 3 to 4 in 

light of funding announcements of 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 120



23 

 

and emerging issues, e.g. 

demographic and legislative 

changes 

Kenyon Summer 2013. 

 

Income pressures largely addressed 

in 2013/14 budget. Demand 

pressures remain a risk and will be 

monitored / managed through Star 

Chamber process. 

4 

The budget strategy does not 

reflect, or respond to, national 

policy developments, e.g. Council 

Tax Support scheme and 

changes to the Business Rates 

regime 

Mike 

Owen/Steve 

Kenyon 

4 3 12 12   

Risk remains high given volatility of 

Business Rates and Council Tax 

Support scheme. Monitoring 

arrangements in place. 

5 

The Council's asset base is not 

operated to its maximum effect 

to deliver efficiency savings and 

ensure priorities are fulfilled.  

Ineffective use of assets presents 

both a financial and a 

performance risk. 

Mike Owen 2 2 6 4   

Asset Management Plan now in 

place; risk reduced to reflect 

progress made in respect of office 

moves over summer of 2013. 

6 

The Council needs to be prepared 

for the impact of the Localism 

Act; this presents both 

opportunities, e.g. power of 

competency & community right 

to challenge 

Jayne 

Hammond 
  2 

Risk 

Removed 
  

A process for dealing with 

applications has been approved by 

Cabinet; none received to date. 

 

Option remains for risk to be 

reintroduced should the need arise. 

7 
The amount of money received 

from the NHS to manage public 

health is insufficient to meet the 

Pat Jones-

Greenhalgh 
2 2 6 4   

Risk impact reduced as Public Health 

funding gives greater certainty; risk 

remains around performance of 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 121



24 

 

performance outcomes expected 

by Government 

contracts inherited from PCT. 

8 

The Council fails to manage the 

expectations of residents, service 

users & other stakeholders in 

light of funding reductions 

Mike Owen 3 2 3 6   

Impact score raised from 2 to 3 in 

light of funding announcements of 

Summer 2013. 

 

Widespread consultation took place 

re: Budget / Plan for Change, and is 

now in train for 2014/15 top up 

savings. 

09 

The Government's changes to 

Council Tax Benefit impact 

adversely upon the Public / 

Vulnerable People.  Also 

budgetary risk to the Council in 

the event of claimant numbers 

rise 

Mike Owen 3 3 9 9   

Impact on residents being managed 

through Welfare Reform Board. 

Budgetary impact to be assessed 

through monthly monitoring process. 

 

10 

 

Changes resulting from the wider 

Welfare reform agenda impact 

adversly upon the public / 

vulnerable people. 

Mike Owen 3 3 9 9   

Welfare Reform Board coordinating 

action plan with partner 

organizations (e.g. Six Town, CAB) 

11 

 

That the scale and pace of 

change impacts adversely upon 

key Council Services, and 

organisational capacity due to 

the loss of staff (420+ since 

2010) 

Mike Kelly 4 3 8 12   

Workforce Development Plan now in 

place and individual service 

workforce plans being developed to 

ensure continuity / succession 

planning. 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 122



Agenda Item 10Document Pack Page 123
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Document Pack Page 126

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 11Document Pack Page 127
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Document Pack Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Bury Tobacco Control Strategy
	FINAL TC STRATEGY 2013
	Equality Analysis FINAL

	5 Corporate Financial Monitoring Report - April to September 2013
	Capital Summary Appendix A
	HRA Summary Appendix B
	Appendix C Prudential Indicators mth 6 1314

	6 Treasury Management Strategy Mid-Year Review
	7 Corporate Plan Progress Report Quarter 2 2013-2014
	Corporate Plan Progress Report Q2 2013-14

	10 Parking Enforcement Contract
	11 IT Network Infrastructure

